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          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We welcome you to

          3  this Higher Education Committee and the State and

          4  Federal Legislation Committee joint hearing on the

          5  TAP Program offered by the State, and the resolution

          6  that we will be passing or voting on this morning,

          7  we'll explain that more to you as we go further in

          8  the program.

          9                 But I am joined at the dais here by

         10  Council Member Maria Baez, who is the Chair of the

         11  State and Federal Legislation Committee. We welcome

         12  her, and we enjoy the fact that we are working

         13  together on this very, very important hearing this

         14  morning.

         15                 We're going to ask Council Member

         16  Baez to read her opening statement, then I'll read

         17  mine and then we'll commence the hearing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you, Council

         19  member.

         20                 Good morning, and welcome to today's

         21  hearing on Resolution 131, a resolution opposing the

         22  Governor's plan to defer one-third of students'

         23  Tuition Assistance Program grants, until they have

         24  completed their degrees.

         25                 My name is Maria Baez, I am the Chair
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          2  of the Committee on State and Federal Legislation.

          3                 Usually the Committee on State and

          4  Federal Legislation convenes to ask the Governor and

          5  the State Legislature to pass a particular law that

          6  we feel will help the City.

          7                 Today we are here to tell them to not

          8  adopt the Governor's proposed changes to the Tuition

          9  Assistance Program. These changes will hurt our

         10  students and our City.

         11                 Governor Pataki submitted this

         12  legislation as part of his state budget, what he

         13  calls an incentive to encourage students to graduate

         14  is really, in my eyes, a cost-saving measure.

         15                 The cost saving comes about when

         16  students who cannot get loans to cover the deferred

         17  TAP payments, or who do not want to make on more

         18  debt end up not finishing college.

         19                 First of all, I do not believe that

         20  this serves as an incentive for students to finish

         21  school. If anything, I believe it is a disincentive

         22  to students, especially poor students and minority

         23  students, who may have trouble getting loans, or who

         24  may be intimidated by the prospect of taking out

         25  additional debt to finance what was supposed to be
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          2  the grant portion of their tuition.

          3                 Second, to the extent that this is

          4  supposed to save money, I would argue that even if

          5  you view the short-term savings and penny wise, the

          6  proposal is certainly pound foolish.

          7                 New York City has a real problem

          8  compared to other parts of the country when it comes

          9  to getting a higher portion of its population to

         10  participate in the workforce.

         11                 Our rate of participation among

         12  work-age adults is about ten points lower in New

         13  York than in other places. Much of this difference

         14  is found in the fact that people without college

         15  education are much less likely to be part of the

         16  workforce in our City than in any other parts of the

         17  country. So, we should be doing things to make it

         18  easier for people to become college educated, not

         19  harder.

         20                 If we decrease financial aid, we

         21  increase the pool of New Yorkers without college

         22  education, and we further decrease the pool of New

         23  Yorkers participating in city's workforce and

         24  contributing to our city's economy. This hurts every

         25  one of us.
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          2                 Today I am happy to be here with the

          3  Chair on Higher Education, Council Member Barron,

          4  and all the students and educators who have come

          5  here today to urge the Governor to withdraw his

          6  proposal, and if the Governor will not do that, to

          7  ask the State Legislator to refuse to make the

          8  Governor's proposed changes to the program.

          9                 Once again, I really want to thank

         10  you for being here, because it shows how important

         11  and how concerned we all are regarding the

         12  Governor's proposals. Once again, thank you very

         13  much for being here today.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         15  much, Council member.

         16                 We also are joined by Council Member

         17  Michael Nelson, Council Member Joseph Addabbo,

         18  Council Member Helen Sears, Council Member Miguel

         19  Martinez, and Council Member Hiram Monserrate. We

         20  want to welcome all of you to this hearing.

         21                 I would like to welcome my colleagues

         22  to this hearing and to welcome all of you today to

         23  this hearing.

         24                 The purpose of today's hearing is to

         25  discuss the State Tuition Assistance program, known
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          2  as TAP, and the Governor's proposed changes to this

          3  important program which assists many students

          4  throughout the New York State and in obtaining a

          5  college degree.

          6                 Today the members of both committees

          7  will vote on Resolution 131, which calls upon the

          8  Governor to withdraw, or in the alternate that the

          9  State Legislature disapprove the Governor's recent

         10  proposal to change TAP by requiring the deferral of

         11  one-third of the grants of eligible students and

         12  awarding these grants money after the students

         13  graduate and obtain their degrees.

         14                 The members of the Higher Education

         15  Committee are particularly concerned with the

         16  potential effect on CUNY students or the proposed

         17  changes to TAP, if passed. During the 1998 and 1999

         18  academic year, City University of New York conferred

         19  almost 29,000 degrees, ranging from certificates to

         20  doctorates, with the enrollment of approximately

         21  200,000 students in degree programs throughout the

         22  five boroughs of New York City.

         23                 CUNY enrolled an additional 150,000

         24  students in adult and continuing education courses.

         25                 After graduating, a large percentage
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          2  of CUNY alumni stay in New York City and continue to

          3  contribute to the economy in many substantial ways.

          4  So, when we say an investment in a CUNY student is

          5  an investment in New York City's economy, we mean

          6  this literally because we're talking of hundreds of

          7  millions of dollars, and I've heard figures up to

          8  billions of taxes that you paid back to the City

          9  after you graduate because 80 percent of us stay

         10  here. So, we're talking about economic stability

         11  investing in CUNY students.

         12                 Many CUNY students are of lower

         13  income and middle income backgrounds, as well as

         14  being of diverse ethnic and racial background. At

         15  one time CUNY students were the beneficiaries of a

         16  tuition-free policy, however, that policy was

         17  changed in the mid- to late 1970s, followed by

         18  incremental increases and other student fees.

         19                 This has resulted in substantially

         20  increasing the cost of obtaining a CUNY education

         21  and diploma. Often the Tuition Assistance Program

         22  awards are critical to these particular students'

         23  ability to stay in school and graduate with CUNY

         24  degrees.

         25                 This Committee and its chair believe
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          2  that although these are difficult times, CUNY's

          3  educational mission of access and excellence for all

          4  New Yorkers of diverse races, ethnic backgrounds and

          5  both sexes, must not be jeopardized.

          6                 For those of you who are testifying

          7  today, even if you responded to my office with your

          8  name and organization, I ask that you see the

          9  Sergeant-At-Arms and fill in the appropriate cards,

         10  which he or she will provide for you.

         11                 And I just want to add to this, the

         12  value of a CUNY degree has gone up, because of the

         13  excellence that you have provided and you have

         14  committed to in your educational endeavors.

         15                 So, we want to put CUNY on the map

         16  like never before, through the TAP, through fight

         17  for stopping the cuts, the Vallone scholarships,

         18  these will be critical, critical components of the

         19  CUNY education that will make us the greatest,

         20  largest, most respected university in this country,

         21  and that's our goal with CUNY. So, we thank you.

         22                 And with that, we're going to

         23  commence our hearing and ask our first person to

         24  come and testify, State Comptroller Carl McCall.

         25                 And although we believe that you
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          2  always speak truth, we're going to swear you in like

          3  we swear everybody else in.

          4                 Raise that right hand, sir.

          5                 MS. BOLANOS: Good morning.

          6                 Do you swear that the testimony

          7  you're about to give before this Committee is the

          8  whole truth and the best of your knowledge?

          9                 COMPTROLLER McCALL: Yes.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

         11  and position for the record. Thank you.

         12                 COMPTROLLER McCALL: Carl McCall, New

         13  York State Comptroller.

         14                 Council Member Barron, Council Member

         15  Baez, other members of the Council, thank you very

         16  much for this opportunity to talk to you today on

         17  the vital topic of restoring the proposed cut to the

         18  Tuition Assistance Program.

         19                 I want to congratulate you for

         20  holding this important hearing.

         21                 Higher education, I believe,

         22  increases the earning capacity productivity and

         23  entrepreneurial ability of New Yorkers. It enhances

         24  the State's relative advantage in having a

         25  well-educated workforce and a high critical mass of
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          2  intellectual talent and ability.

          3                 Education will be a fundamental

          4  ingredient of our economic and social success in

          5  this century, and to give short shrift to it is

          6  extremely unwise.

          7                 I would like to point out, you all

          8  know my longstanding commitment to the City

          9  University, but I would like to point out for the

         10  record that the Tuition Assistance Program, affects

         11  every public and private college in the entire

         12  state. So the students who are affected by what

         13  you're talking about today are students beyond the

         14  City University system, but in every public and

         15  private higher education institution in the State of

         16  New York.

         17                 Unfortunately, under the current

         18  Governor, higher education has been the repeated

         19  target of budget cuts. The damage from many of these

         20  cuts may not be immediately visible, but it

         21  accumulates over time with devastating impact.

         22                 For example, there has been a steady

         23  decline in the percentage of full-time faculty at

         24  CUNY campuses, compared to a steady increase in the

         25  percentage of part-time adjunct faculty.
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          2                 In 1990, full-time faculty taught 62

          3  percent of courses at the senior colleges and 54

          4  percent of courses at community colleges. By 1999,

          5  full-time faculty taught only 51 percent of senior

          6  college courses, and only 44 percent of community

          7  college courses.

          8                 At a time when New York faces an

          9  uncertain economic future, a strong and accessible

         10  higher education system is critical to economic

         11  growth and the highly-trained workforce that

         12  sustains it.

         13                 Unfortunately, the Governor's current

         14  budget proposed continues to undermine higher

         15  education.

         16                 Funding for public universities is

         17  essentially flatlined for this year. The Governor's

         18  failure to adequately support these institutions

         19  further compounds the damage created by last year's

         20  budget, including the 25 percent reduction in

         21  opportunity programs. Community colleges are also

         22  slated to receive no increase in funding. However,

         23  the centerpiece of the 2002, 2003 Executive Budget

         24  deprivation is a $155 million cut to the Tuition

         25  Assistance Program cap. This is a devastating cut
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          2  that would withhold one-third of each student's

          3  annual TAP award until graduation.

          4                 The Governor's budget refers to this

          5  as a performance award in an attempt to disguise it

          6  as a graduation incentive. But no euphemistic

          7  description will change the fact that students need

          8  TAP to attend school, not afterward.

          9                 The Governor's plan would limit

         10  access to college for lower-income students, and

         11  also push struggling students further into debt. The

         12  impact is even acknowledged in the proposal, which

         13  includes a new TAP loan program specifically

         14  directed to students that have exhausted their loan

         15  eligibility but still need additional funds to cover

         16  the cut.

         17                 Student borrowing has already

         18  skyrocketed since the early nineties, and is

         19  particularly acute among low-income minority

         20  students.

         21                 A recent study cites alarming

         22  national statistics. Thirty-nine percent of student

         23  borrowers graduate with unmanageable levels of

         24  federal student loan debt.

         25                 Seventy-one percent of low-income
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          2  students graduate with debt compared to 44 percent

          3  of wealthy students. Fifty-percent are

          4  African-American students, and 58 percent of

          5  Hispanic students, student borrowers, graduate with

          6  unmanageable levels of debt.

          7                 Two years ago the maximum TAP grant

          8  was increased to $5,000, which along with other

          9  changes was to increase TAP by $134 million.

         10                 This hard fought, long overdue

         11  restoration is now essentially being undone by the

         12  proposed cut of 155 million.

         13                 In fact, TAP has been a target of

         14  major cuts in five of the past eight executive

         15  budget proposals.

         16                 In 1995, Governor Pataki's first year

         17  in office, he proposed a $170 million TAP cut.

         18  Thankfully the Legislature restored it, as they have

         19  had to restore many proposed cuts since.

         20                 If you add up all of the Governor's

         21  proposed cuts, they actually exceed the current

         22  funding for the entire program. The TAP cut is bad

         23  enough by itself, but it is even worse when you

         24  consider New York State's relative position in terms

         25  of student tuition and fees.
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          2                 According to the latest available

          3  data, New York's annual undergraduate tuition fees

          4  averages $4,062 at public four-year institutions,

          5  14th highest amongst all the states, and 16 percent

          6  above the national average.

          7                 New York's community college tuition

          8  has nearly doubled the national average.

          9                 Although the Governor brags of having

         10  maintained tuition at the same level since 1995, he

         11  often neglects to mention that he raised CUNY

         12  tuition by $750 in 1995 to $3,200, a 30 percent

         13  increase.

         14                 He also proposed the tuition increase

         15  of $250 in the following year and $400 in '97 and

         16  '98. Although, thankfully both proposals were

         17  rejected by the legislature. And while tuition may

         18  have remained constant since the 1995 hike, student

         19  fees have increased significantly.

         20                 All of these trends are very

         21  disruptive to student access, as well as to the

         22  State's long-term interest, because higher education

         23  is vital to economic development in the new economy.

         24                 The result of all this is that New

         25  York State has fallen behind its neighbors. While
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          2  most states took advantage of the recent boom years

          3  to increase their investment in higher education,

          4  New York State did not.

          5                 We need to be planning and moving

          6  ahead, not struggling just to stay even.

          7                 Our state's investment in higher

          8  education lags far behind the national average. Over

          9  the last past ten years, New York State has

         10  increased its support for higher education by just

         11  19 percent, compared to a national increase of 59

         12  percent.

         13                 New York ranks 47th in the nation.

         14  Only Hawaii, Montana, and Alaska, have fared worse

         15  in terms of their commitment to higher education.

         16  And once inflation for the period is taken into

         17  account, higher education has suffered a net decline

         18  of 11 percent in State support.

         19                 So, I support the resolution before

         20  the Council, and hope that you will pass this

         21  resolution calling upon the restoration of the TAP

         22  cut by the Governor, and if not by the Governor, the

         23  Legislature.

         24                 And Mr. Chairman, if I might just add

         25  to my testimony? I'd like to just point out
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          2  something I got from some old newspaper clips.

          3                 In August 2nd of 1994, Governor

          4  Pataki released his first set of television ads, he

          5  was then not a very well known politician running

          6  for Governor, and in August of 1994, he released a

          7  summary of his television ads to identify himself.

          8  And in these ads he points out that he grew up on a

          9  farm, in a poor family in Peekskill, New York, and

         10  that what made a difference for him was the

         11  scholarships that he received to attend Yale and

         12  Columbia Universities.

         13                 I find it very, very sad that the

         14  Governor, who received scholarship assistance, which

         15  allowed him the opportunity to attend two of the

         16  best colleges in our country, that the Governor now

         17  wants to deny that opportunity to the students of

         18  New York State.

         19                 And, so, I hope we send a very clear

         20  message to the Governor, and let the Governor know

         21  that the same opportunity that he had to go to

         22  college on scholarship, that that opportunity should

         23  be made available to the students in New York State.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very
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          2  much for your testimony.

          3                 We thank you for that testimony, and

          4  we certainly want a copy of it for our records. If

          5  we could get that, I'd greatly appreciate it.

          6                 Are there any questions from my

          7  colleagues for the State Comptroller?

          8                 Well, we thank you very much for your

          9  testimony.

         10                 COMPTROLLER McCALL: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We've also been

         12  joined by the Deputy Majority Leader, Council Member

         13  Bill Perkins. I want to welcome him. And also by the

         14  Chair of the Youth Committee, and Council Member Lou

         15  Fidler. We thank both of them for joining us.

         16                 Okay, now we'll hear from our

         17  Chancellor Matthew Goldstein. We thank you very much

         18  for being here. And following his testimony, then we

         19  will take a vote on our resolution today.

         20                 Welcome, Chancellor.

         21                 MS. BOLANOS: Please raise your right

         22  hand. Do you swear that the testimony you're about

         23  to give before this Committee is the whole truth and

         24  the best to your knowledge?

         25                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I do.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

          3  and organization and position for the record.

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I do.

          5                 MS. BOLANOS: Thank you.

          6                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Matthew

          7  Goldstein, Chancellor of the City University of New

          8  York.

          9                 Well, it's still morning, so let me

         10  begin by saying good morning, Chairman Barron,

         11  Chairwoman Baez, and members of the City Council

         12  Higher Education and State and Federal Legislation

         13  Committees. I appreciate the opportunity to testify

         14  before you today on student financial aid.

         15                 Let me begin, however, by stating for

         16  the record that the availability of financial aid is

         17  indispensable to the fulfillment of educational

         18  aspirations and dreams of tens of thousands of

         19  students who attend the City University of New York.

         20                 As an educator, I have always placed

         21  a high priority on the provision of scholarships,

         22  grants, loans and work study funding. The ability of

         23  our students to achieve academic advancement is

         24  directly linked to their success in obtaining the

         25  wherewithal to pay for the costs of attending
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          2  college.

          3                 Ladies and gentlemen, you know from

          4  your involvement in public service that financial

          5  aid is an investment in the lives of our whole

          6  people. It is an investment repaid many times over

          7  through income earned, and taxes paid to the

          8  treasury of the City, state and federal government.

          9  It is a prudent investment because it is one of the

         10  principle equalizers in our society to help ensure

         11  that access to educational credentials is not purely

         12  a function of the accident of birth or inherited

         13  wealth.

         14                 Permit me, therefore, to comment on

         15  proposals in the New York State Executive Budget to

         16  provide two-thirds of the tuition assistance program

         17  award to the student during the term of attendance,

         18  and to the award of the remaining one-third upon

         19  completion of the degree.

         20                 Approximately 71,000 CUNY students

         21  receive half annually. We anticipate approximately

         22  25,000 students at the community colleges would have

         23  approximately 13.7 million of TAP awards deferred in

         24  the 2002/2003 academic year.

         25                 Forty-six thousand students at the
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          2  senior colleges will have $29.7 million of awards

          3  deferred. 63.9 percent of the affected students are

          4  women, and 79.7 percent are students representing

          5  minority groups.

          6                 The presence of the deferral -- the

          7  premise of the deferral is to encourage degree

          8  completion by students. The affect, however, would

          9  be a limited opportunity to students early in their

         10  college career, which may, in fact, increase student

         11  drop-out or stop-out.

         12                 Data from the Department of Labor

         13  Statistics, from March of 2001, their current

         14  population survey, shows a significant difference in

         15  income for people who have attended some college,

         16  and an even more significant difference for students

         17  who complete their degree, compared to those who

         18  only earn a high school diploma.

         19                 Over a lifetime, the difference in

         20  income between some collegiate attendance, and no

         21  collegiate attendance, is approximately a quarter of

         22  a million dollars. For completion of a

         23  baccalaureates degree, the difference is about a

         24  million dollars.

         25                 These differences in lifetime income
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          2  provide a significant revenue stream to local, state

          3  and federal government in the form of income tax,

          4  Social Security and sales tax. The proposal attempts

          5  to ameliorate the financial strain by having

          6  students take out student loans, to bridge the

          7  financial gap during their period of attendance.

          8  Currently, only 13 percent of the TAP award

          9  recipients at CUNY incurred debt from the federal

         10  student loan programs. CUNY has historically tried

         11  to minimize loan debt to students, particularly to

         12  low-income students, to diminish the effects on

         13  borrowing on post enrollment life.

         14                 We should be concerned that more

         15  students would be obliged to borrow from the loan

         16  programs and incur potentially detrimental debt

         17  obligations.

         18                 Since students from low-income

         19  families qualify for larger awards, the burden of

         20  increase debt falls disproportionately on these

         21  students. Upon separation from college, the

         22  repayment burden of these students, compared to

         23  students from higher income families, who might not

         24  have borrowed, inhibits asset accumulation and may

         25  perpetuate family financial inequities.
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          2                 Just as an example, a student who has

          3  to borrow $10,000 from student loans, with an

          4  approximate interest rate of six percent, has a

          5  repayment of $1,111 per month that otherwise could

          6  be saved.

          7                 This reduced capacity to save,

          8  combined with the initial debt balance, and a modest

          9  assumption of an eight percent return per year,

         10  means that 25 years after graduation, the

         11  accumulated savings is about $38,000, rather than

         12  about $106,000 saved by the non-borrower, a

         13  difference in accumulated assets of over $67,000.

         14                 While the overall budget reduction

         15  for general fund expenditures in FY 2003 Executive

         16  Budget is about $1.3 billion, or three percent of

         17  the general fund, the proposed cuts in TAP funding

         18  is 145 million, representing 23 percent of the prior

         19  year general fund appropriation.

         20                 Some people talk about the cut is

         21  $155 million, but really 10 million of that is for

         22  the loan provision, and that's why the number really

         23  is $145 million.

         24                 The reduction in student awards is

         25  210.5 million when compared to the awards the
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          2  current statute would deliver to students.

          3                 This difference between the budget

          4  reduction and the loss of funds to students is

          5  attributable to program enhancements, phased in from

          6  1998, from the 1998 legislation, which would provide

          7  an additional 30 million in awards, and an

          8  anticipated growth in participation for 25.5 million

          9  and 10 million for TAP loans to students who have

         10  exhausted their student loan eligibility.

         11                 May I remind the Committee, the joint

         12  Committee, of the conclusion of the Commission on

         13  New York State financial aid, which in its December

         14  19th, 1999 report quoted, New York State must

         15  reaffirm its dedication to the basic principles that

         16  underline student financial aid.

         17                 These principles hold that "the young

         18  women and men of every generation deserve an

         19  opportunity to fulfill their innate talents,

         20  regardless of economic status, that education

         21  without universal opportunity, without that

         22  universal opportunity is elitist and inequitable,

         23  and that the natural existence is the greatest

         24  investment the State can make in its own future."

         25                 Let me move to the Vallone
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          2  Scholarship Program, which I am also deeply

          3  concerned about.

          4                 The Preliminary Financial Plan for FY

          5  2003 for New York City does not provide funding for

          6  the Peter F. Vallone Academic Scholarship Program.

          7                 The scholarships provides an award --

          8  the scholarship provides an award of $1,450 per year

          9  for students who are graduates of a high school in

         10  New York City, achieve at least a B average, earn at

         11  least 12 college preparatory initiative units, and

         12  attend a CUNY college as their first college

         13  attendance within one year of graduation from high

         14  school.

         15                 Students retain their scholarships by

         16  maintaining a cumulative B average in college, and

         17  continuous full-time enrollment status.

         18                 This has been an extremely successful

         19  program for students at CUNY. Over 18,000 students

         20  have benefitted from this program in the four years

         21  it has existed.

         22                 The program's approach, unlike that

         23  taken in the State Executive Budget, is to encourage

         24  students to remain enrolled as full-time students,

         25  and facilitate timely completion of the degree by
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          2  providing a positive incentive and reward.

          3                 The program also works as an

          4  incentive to students to achieve superior grades in

          5  high school and to attend a CUNY college.

          6                 Given that over 80 percent of CUNY's

          7  graduates, what you said, Mr. Chairman, remain in

          8  New York and live and work in this City, the return

          9  on investment of capital for this program is

         10  significant to the local economy.

         11                 The incentive and encouragement to

         12  continually enroll as a full-time student results in

         13  early entry of the graduate into the workforce

         14  producing enhanced financial returns for both the

         15  individual and the City.

         16                 As a general rule, all other things

         17  remaining equal, college enrollment tend to increase

         18  during difficult economic times, placing greater

         19  demand on institutional resources and financial

         20  resources to help students pay for college.

         21                 This results in lower family income

         22  driving up eligibility for student financial aid.

         23  These two budgetary proposals would reduce the

         24  amount of assistance available to students with the

         25  long-term result of suppressing the contribution of
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          2  an educated citizenry to the economy.

          3                 We should take the lead from

          4  congress, which has in recent years funded the

          5  federal Pell grant program for increases in the

          6  maximum award from $2,300 during the 1994/1995 year

          7  to a maximum of $4,000 for the upcoming 2002/2003

          8  year.

          9                 Congress has wisely directed some of

         10  the economic gains of the past decade into student

         11  aid, and recognized the importance of increasing its

         12  investment in higher education during the current

         13  recession.

         14                 The City University of New York looks

         15  to the higher education and state and federal

         16  legislation committees, as well as the entire City

         17  Council, to act in the same spirit as Congress.

         18                 We call upon you to restore the

         19  funding for the Peter F. Vallone Academic

         20  Scholarship Program and will continue working with

         21  you and the legislature to change the current

         22  proposal for TAP contained in the State Executive

         23  Budget.

         24                 Mr. Chairman, I would be pleased to

         25  answer any questions you may have at this time.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chancellor. What a powerful and thoroughly

          5  researched and I think you've really made the point

          6  for us. I'm certain students could appreciate the

          7  data that was presented, and it clearly indicates

          8  your value and the importance of TAP not being

          9  touched. So, we thank you so much for your

         10  testimony.

         11                 Any questions from my colleagues?

         12                 Mr. Chancellor, we thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: What I'd like to

         17  do at this time while we have --

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I'm sorry, Mr.

         19  Chairman, a privilege for a second with your

         20  indulgence, as we discussed?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes, by all

         22  means.

         23                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: We're very

         24  privileged to have in our City today the very

         25  distinguished Vice Chancellor of the University of
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          2  South Africa.

          3                 You may know that the City University

          4  of New York has a long history of working with

          5  universities in South Africa. One of our presidents,

          6  Carolyn Williams, this week is being conferred an

          7  honorary degree from one of the University's in

          8  South Africa. She's the very distinguished president

          9  of Bronx community college. And today an old friend,

         10  a Dr. Don Smith, who is my associate provost and my

         11  administration at Baruch, is serving as a host to

         12  Dr. Barny Pityana, the principal and Vice Chancellor

         13  of the University of South Africa, and I thought,

         14  and you and I discussed this earlier this week, that

         15  it would be a wonderful opportunity for Vice

         16  Chancellor Pityana to just see the deliberations,

         17  and he's with us today and I just wanted to

         18  introduce him.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We'd like to say,

         20  Chancellor, before you leave, we do have some

         21  questions for you. But what I would like to do, and

         22  I'm sure that all of you would agree with me, to

         23  have Vice Chancellor Pityana with us all the way

         24  from South Africa. We certainly would want him to

         25  say a few words to us. And we welcome you, the
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          2  Honorable one. We want you to come forward and

          3  please have a few words for our students and our

          4  colleagues here in the City Council. We certainly

          5  welcome you, and, indeed, it is an honor for your

          6  presence here today.

          7                 VICE CHANCELLOR PITYANA: Thank you

          8  very much, Honorable Mr. Chairman, and distinguished

          9  members of the Council that are here, and to the

         10  students. It gives me great honor to be here today,

         11  and thank you very much for your very warm welcome.

         12  We're very grateful to Chancellor Matthew Goldstein

         13  for inviting us to share with him this very special

         14  opportunity.

         15                 We are here from a very great and

         16  distinguished university of South Africa, the oldest

         17  university in South Africa, and the largest

         18  university in Africa.

         19                 It is a distance education

         20  institution, shares very much, much of the profile

         21  of the City University of New York that I had being

         22  delivered here, in terms of the student profile and

         23  the vision that has been set here.

         24                 It is very much an institution in

         25  transition. It has about 200,000 students at the
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          2  moment studying by distance education, offers about

          3  2,000 course units to students, and not just in

          4  South Africa, but in other more distant parts of the

          5  continent of Africa.

          6                 It is seeking to align itself to the

          7  national vision that the government of the

          8  democratic South Africa has been seeking to do since

          9  1994.

         10                 It faces many challenges that are the

         11  challenges that our continent faces, but more

         12  importantly, it is committed to providing distance

         13  education, skills, professionals and opportunities

         14  to many who in previous times may not have had an

         15  opportunity. And, therefore, it is engaging itself

         16  in the materializing of the great vision of the new

         17  South Africa.

         18                 We're very delighted to be here,

         19  particularly delighted, to make friends with this

         20  City, that for many of us has been very, very

         21  important, particularly in the development, in the

         22  construction of our vision for a new South Africa.

         23  Many of you here support that very willingly and

         24  very enthusiastically for a long time. I do know

         25  that South Africa has many friends here, and we're
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          2  bringing to New York a particular vision for high

          3  education, which we're very proud to represent.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We do want to

          6  thank you very much, and it is indeed an honor, and

          7  many of us on this panel, I'm certain, some of us

          8  even went to jail here protesting against apartheid

          9  and we are looking forward to coming to a free South

         10  Africa in development and coming to visit you and

         11  see the education system and offer our assistance

         12  and learn from you, as well.

         13                 So, I want to thank Mr. Don Smith for

         14  hosting you, and the Chancellor for having such a

         15  great idea. This is a very special moment for these

         16  hearings to have you here. They put a nice special

         17  unique touch to it.

         18                 We, in CUNY, like to do these kind of

         19  things, so this is typical of CUNY to bring

         20  something special like this, and you honor us today

         21  with your presence.

         22                 We thank you.

         23                 Council Member Martinez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair.
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          2                 Thank you, Chancellor, for being here

          3  again.

          4                 I just have a quick question, in

          5  terms of maybe you could share with us some of your

          6  strategic plan, in terms of lobbying Albany to

          7  restore the funding for TAP. And here at the City

          8  Council dealing with the budget, we're also putting

          9  together plans and working with the Speaker in terms

         10  of restoring commuter tax and taking the message to

         11  Albany. I'm just wondering, what plan, what

         12  strategic plan are you putting together in CUNY in

         13  terms of lobbying and driving the message to Albany

         14  in the importance, maintaining TAP, and doing the

         15  same, as you mentioned in your testimony, putting

         16  the availability of a college education to our

         17  student, like Congress did, investing in our

         18  student?

         19                 So, I was just wondering, what

         20  strategic plan are you putting together to drive

         21  that message home to our State legislators?

         22                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Thank you,

         23  Councilman Martinez, for all that.

         24                 As soon as the Governor released his

         25  Executive budget in mid-January, and we understood
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          2  the full implication of these TAP cuts in

          3  particular.

          4                 We started a series of initiatives. I

          5  have not only met with the Governor's people on

          6  several occasions, but with Senator Bruno,

          7  Assemblyman Silver, members of the Assembly, members

          8  of the Senate, to indicate why we think the TAP

          9  program really has to be addressed in a very

         10  different way than what we proposed in the Executive

         11  Budget.

         12                 This university spends a tremendous

         13  amount of time on legislative strategies to do the

         14  right thing by our students. Our students themselves

         15  have been mobilized on our campuses. The union, the

         16  PSC that represents our faculty, have been a partner

         17  in getting these ideas across as well, and so much

         18  of this is coordinated, to use your term,

         19  strategically coordinated, by the Central

         20  Administration.

         21                 Our Board has been very active. We

         22  had a Board trip for two days in March where we

         23  spent a considerable amount of time with the top

         24  leadership in both the Senate and the Assembly, and

         25  members in both of those houses, talking
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          2  specifically about TAP. Because there is so much

          3  money involved here. We're talking about $145

          4  million restoration, and that is a very heavy lift,

          5  at a time when dollars are particularly scarce.

          6                 So, we've been at this right at the

          7  very beginning. It has been a unified approach from

          8  all members of the City University community, the

          9  Board, the Chancellor, our college presidents, our

         10  faculty, our students have all coordinated among

         11  ourselves ways of indicating the kind of impact that

         12  I've indicated to you today.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Chancellor.

         15                 We've been joined by Council Member

         16  Gale Brewer, who is a member of the Higher Education

         17  Committee; Council Member Eric Dilan; Council Member

         18  Jim Gennaro. And I just want to allow for Council

         19  Member Lou Fidler to say a few words, because we are

         20  going to go to vote, pass on our resolution, while

         21  we have a quorum. So, we're going to allow Council

         22  Member Lou Fidler to say a few words, then we'd like

         23  to go to a vote on the resolution while we have a

         24  quorum, and then we'll be getting a panel of four

         25  students, and then we'll be hearing from Mr. Roberto
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          2  Ramirez, Professor Roberto Ramirez and a panel of

          3  four students. So, that's the order that we're going

          4  to go in.

          5                 And I would just like for you to be

          6  patient with us. You know, we have to be out of here

          7  by 1:00, so we've got stacks of people who -- with

          8  CUNY hearings, you know, we all are excited and down

          9  with CUNY so a lot of people want to testify and

         10  it's always great to have these hearings, and you

         11  know I'll try to hang in here with you all day if I

         12  have to, but today we may have to give up the

         13  Chambers for other hearings at 1:00, so we're going

         14  to take you by panels of four and get as many as we

         15  can in.

         16                 Council Member Lou Fidler.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman. Had I known that I was going to be bumping

         19  Professor Ramirez, I might not have asked for the

         20  opportunity.

         21                 I do understand that those of us who

         22  are here as the members of the State and Federal

         23  Legislation Committee aren't going to be voting on

         24  Reso 131, so I just wanted to say this: I'm a

         25  product of the New York State university system, and
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          2  in graduating, in matriculating I had the assistance

          3  of the TAP program, and I know it's the hope and

          4  dream of every generation that the next generation

          5  will have better or at least the same opportunities

          6  that we had.

          7                 This kind of cut in the TAP Program

          8  is unconscionable, and so were I being permitted to

          9  vote today, I would vote in the affirmative on 131,

         10  and I know I'll stand on the floor of the Council at

         11  our next meeting and urge my colleagues to do the

         12  same.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you,

         15  Council Member.

         16                 Now I'd like to read the resolution

         17  and then call for a vote by the Higher Ed Committee.

         18                 This is Resolution 131 calling upon

         19  the Governor to withdraw, or in the alternative, the

         20  State Legislature to disapprove the Governor's

         21  recent proposal to change the Tuition Assistance

         22  Program, TAP, by deferring one-third of eligible

         23  student grants until they have finished their

         24  degrees.

         25                 By the Speaker, Council Member
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          2  Miller, by Council Member Barron, and Council Member

          3  Baez:

          4                 Whereas: In 1969, the State

          5  Legislature adopted a needs-based scholarship

          6  program for students seeking to attain higher

          7  education in New York State, which program in the

          8  1970s became the Tuition Assistance Program; and

          9                 Whereas: The Tuition Assistance

         10  Program was originally designed to help the State's

         11  lower-income students pay for higher education, and

         12  was subsequently -- see, that's the CUNY students

         13  that made me march over here and scream with them

         14  all day, you all did this to me -- subsequently in

         15  large to provide assistance to middle-income

         16  students; and

         17                 Whereas: TAP currently provides

         18  grants ranging from 500 to 5,000 per year to

         19  eligible students, depending upon their incomes,

         20  with the maximum income limit of $80,000 with the

         21  grants payable each year; and

         22                 Whereas: In this Executive Budget the

         23  Governor has proposed changing the program to defer

         24  payment of one-third of each eligible student's

         25  yearly TAP grants until the student has completed
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          2  his or her degree; and

          3                 Whereas: A student study by the New

          4  York Public Interest Research Group shows that

          5  community college tuition and fees in New York State

          6  are the fifth highest in the nation, and that these

          7  costs have increased 80 percent since 1980; and

          8                 Whereas: TAP is an important tool

          9  enabling students in New York State to afford both

         10  community colleges, as well as four-year and

         11  graduate degree programs, assisting 25,000 New York

         12  City students at CUNY colleges, community colleges

         13  and 46,000 students at CUNY senior colleges; and

         14                 Whereas: According to the March 2001

         15  current population survey data, every student who

         16  might have completed the college degree but was

         17  denied the opportunity to do so, due to the lack of

         18  financial support for tuition could potentially cost

         19  the states minimum of between 15,000 to 60,000 in

         20  tax revenue for each student; and

         21                 Whereas: Education experts argue the

         22  Governor's proposed changes have caused fewer

         23  students to seek higher education,

         24  disproportionately affect minority students and

         25  cause financial hardship for those students who are
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          2  forced to take additional debt to complete their

          3  education; now, therefore

          4                 Be It Resolved: That the Council of

          5  the City of New York calls upon the Governor to

          6  withdraw or in the alternative, the State

          7  Legislature to disapprove the Governor's recent

          8  proposal to change the Tuition Assistance Program,

          9  TAP, by deferring costs, one-third of eligible

         10  student grant until they have finished their

         11  degrees.

         12                 That is Resolution Number 131. Is

         13  there any discussion on the Resolution?

         14                 Then we will call for a vote. A roll

         15  call vote.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I'd like to

         20  be excused to explain my vote.

         21                 First, Madam Chairwoman and Chairman,

         22  I want to express my appreciation to you for the

         23  leadership that you all are jointly providing with

         24  regard to this utmost important matter, and would

         25  like to, for the record, have my name be added to
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          2  the list of prime sponsors of this Resolution.

          3                 I am in somewhat of a state of

          4  outrage that the Governor has put us in this

          5  situation. You know, yesterday we remembered the

          6  dreams of Dr. Martin Luther King, and those dreams

          7  are essentially captured in what this particular

          8  program provides, which is to break down those

          9  barriers that prevent us, our children, from

         10  achieving opportunities that are taken for granted

         11  by others, as was quite eloquently articulated by

         12  the Comptroller when he talked about the Governor's

         13  advantages. And, so, when we remembered Dr. King and

         14  then have to deal with this kind of situation, it's

         15  kind of disturbing.

         16                 And, so, he's closing the doors to

         17  the dreams of our young people. This particular

         18  piece of legislation I would reject, I mean this

         19  proposal by the Governor I will reject, and support

         20  the legislation for basically three reasons:

         21                 First of all, it has a racially

         22  discriminating impact, particularly on students of

         23  color.

         24                 It has a class discriminating impact,

         25  particularly on so-called disadvantaged students;
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          2  and last, but not least, it has a gender bias,

          3  particularly with regard to women.

          4                 And, so, in the name of Dr. Martin

          5  Luther King, as well as my predecessor, Adam Clayton

          6  Powell, who also died yesterday, as we remember on

          7  April 4th, I would support this resolution

          8  whole-heartedly. Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Nelson.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: If I could

         11  explain my vote?

         12                 I'll take that as a yes.

         13                 We want our children to get an

         14  education. We don't want them to be involved in

         15  illegal activities, and when we throw roadblocks in

         16  the way, logs in the road, if you will, along their

         17  path of education, we're going contrary to what we

         18  say we believe in. We should not throw any

         19  roadblocks, whether it be TAP, Peter Vallone

         20  scholarships, or what have you.

         21                 So, I proudly vote aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         24  much, and I also proudly vote aye.

         25                 I would like to have my name added to
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          2  the bill, and I will just like to indicate that I

          3  just came from CUNY, Jay may be interested in this,

          4  where we had at Baruch College a wonderful

          5  discussion of arts education, and for three hours

          6  we've been talking about the ways in which arts

          7  plays a huge role, not only in CUNY, but in the City

          8  of New York, and in all the schools from K through

          9  12. And the reason that that's so important is that

         10  in order to sort of figure out the whole person, be

         11  it the person whose interested in the arts, but also

         12  have the arts, can make a person whole, they have to

         13  be able to go to school. And I have worked over the

         14  last 30 years with many, many, many young people

         15  from CUNY who have taken advantage of the system,

         16  but have only done it with the benefit of TAP. So, I

         17  do think the State Legislature, though, because in a

         18  recent meeting with the Manhattan Delegation of both

         19  the Assembly and the City Council, it was made clear

         20  to us that under no circumstances whatsoever would

         21  Chairman Silver or any of the democrats in the

         22  Assembly allow the TAP program to be cut.

         23                 And that doesn't mean that we don't

         24  argue and lobby and push, but I think we should

         25  always remember that, and remember what the Governor
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          2  is doing, but also thank the Assembly for their

          3  steadfast support. So, I proudly vote aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Martinez.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: May I be

          6  allowed to explain my vote?

          7                 As an immigrant coming from the

          8  Dominican Republic, my parents understood that the

          9  American dream for my four sisters and I was going

         10  to be achieved once we entered the university

         11  system.

         12                 They also understood that the

         13  opportunities available in the State of New York

         14  through CUNY were the key to ensuring that we

         15  achieve those dreams.

         16                 So, at times where we see that those

         17  who were minorities in the system back then are

         18  becoming the majority. It is hard to conceive how

         19  then each year we see how these doors are attempted

         20  to be closed on us. So, I would like my name to be

         21  added as a prime sponsor to this resolution. I think

         22  it is an honor to continue to fight as a product of

         23  CUNY to ensuring that future generation has the

         24  opportunity to reach their goals and their dreams,

         25  because goals and dreams, by having a college

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            47

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  education, are one step closer to achieving them.

          3  So, very proudly, I vote aye on this resolution.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

          5  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          6  abstentions, the item is adopted.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I want to thank

          8  my colleagues for the support of this Resolution

          9  131. It will go before the full Council, and we are

         10  working hard to make sure that the full Council

         11  passes what this Committee has just passed today.

         12  This is indeed a victory for CUNY today, and we

         13  continue to fight forward.

         14                 What we would like to do is allow for

         15  Professor Ramirez to come forward. He has prior

         16  commitments. We appreciate your patience. And then

         17  we'll get to our CUNY students, who are the heart

         18  and soul of this University.

         19                 MS. BOLANOS: Please raise your right

         20  hand.

         21                 Do you swear that the testimony

         22  you're about to give before this Committee --

         23                 MR. RAMIREZ: I do.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS: -- Is the whole truth

         25  and to the best of your knowledge?
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          2                 MR. RAMIREZ: I do.

          3                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

          4  and organization for the record before you begin

          5  your testimony.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. RAMIREZ: Roberto Ramirez.

          8  Graduate of Bronx Community College.

          9                 Thank you, Madam Chair, and Mr.

         10  Chairman, for allowing me the privilege of providing

         11  testimony before the joint Committee hearings on the

         12  Governor's proposed changes to the Tuition

         13  Assistance Program.

         14                 I also want to commend both of you

         15  and the members of the Committee, because what has

         16  been proposed is both a travesty and dishonest. It

         17  has been widely reported that the proposed cuts in

         18  TAP amount to $155 million. This is not true. In

         19  fact, if this proposal is enacted into law by the

         20  legislature, it will translate into a siphoning of

         21  over $523 million away from the State general fund

         22  allocation to TAP.

         23                 What has happened is that a proposal

         24  was made, and it was reported as such, and as it

         25  often happens in government, it had been reported as
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          2  such, and it has become a truism. It is not.

          3                 As you know, TAP is presently funded

          4  at a cost of approximately between $800 million and

          5  a billion dollars annually from the State's general

          6  fund. If this proposal is adopted, the State would

          7  be walking away from its responsibility to the TAP

          8  program.

          9                 The Governor's proposal would cap the

         10  TAP award at two-thirds of the present level at a

         11  cost to the State of $480 million. This is the only

         12  money that the State would be paying out of the

         13  general fund.

         14                 The Governor then proposes to take

         15  $345 million from the transitionary aid to needy

         16  families monies, better known as TANF.

         17                 As you know, this $345 million will

         18  be used for the first time to pay for TAP

         19  assistance, further removing the State's commitment

         20  from TAP from its general fund.

         21                 As you and I know, TANF was intended

         22  to help transition people from welfare and into jobs

         23  by providing funding from training and day care

         24  services.

         25                 During the last eight years, the
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          2  Giuliani Administration and the State of New York

          3  moved people off welfare, often times arbitrarily

          4  and in violation of the constitutional rights, and

          5  place the savings that would have gone into putting

          6  people to work in a reserve fund. That is a $345

          7  million cut to the TAP program.

          8                 It does not matter are artfully the

          9  State tries to sell it, it's still a cut from the

         10  general fund.

         11                 Those $345 million that are being

         12  directed to pay for TAP, would otherwise be

         13  available to fund child care and training programs

         14  for those who cannot get a job because the State and

         15  the City have failed miserably to provide jobs for

         16  those who were kicked off the welfare rolls.

         17                 What is perhaps most hypocritical

         18  about this proposal is that over the last seven

         19  years this City and this State have relentlessly

         20  prohibited welfare recipients from attending classes

         21  in college.

         22                 As a matter of fact, it is public

         23  policy of this City that they just simply do not

         24  believe that welfare savings should be used to help

         25  the welfare recipients receive a college education.
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          2                 Actually, during my tenure as Chair

          3  of the Social Service Committee and the State

          4  Assembly, my biggest fights were against the Human

          5  Resources Administration and the Department of Labor

          6  to force them into allowing students who were

          7  attending the City University to fulfill their

          8  workfare requirements on campus.

          9                 To this day, even though it is state

         10  law, the City refuses to enforce it. It was over

         11  their objections that we enacted a law to allow

         12  federal internships and work study to meet workfare

         13  requirements.

         14                 To now have a proposal that says that

         15  the money that was saved by not providing training

         16  for welfare recipients or allowing them to fulfill

         17  their college requirements, that this money should

         18  now be used as a substitute for the State share of

         19  TAP is at best hypocritical and at worst, not sound

         20  policy.

         21                 Additionally, it needs to be pointed

         22  out to the City Council that the use of TANF dollars

         23  for TAP funding had not been approved by the federal

         24  government, and in fact, may be disallowed.

         25                 What will the State of New York do
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          2  then to fund TAP to the tune of $345 million, or

          3  will it simply become another cut to the TAP

          4  program?

          5                 The second part of the State's

          6  proposal is even more troubling. It seeks to

          7  withhold one-third of all grant awards until

          8  graduation.

          9                 This represents a delay, not of $155

         10  million, but of $212 million during the next fiscal

         11  year by preventing payment of tuition.

         12                 If the State refuses to pay, then the

         13  students must borrow. What this basically means is

         14  that the State for the first time will be shifting

         15  the burden of borrowing $155 million if you believe

         16  the Governor, $212 million if you believe the

         17  economists, to over 70,000 students who receive

         18  tuition assistance.

         19                 Of the students attending CUNY, 62

         20  percent of them are women; 42 percent of them work

         21  either full-time or part-time, and two-thirds of

         22  them happen to be minority students.

         23                 Does the State really believe that

         24  these students need a punitive incentive to

         25  graduate?
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          2                 I believe that what this shows is the

          3  State's failure to recognize the difficulties that

          4  students from poorer neighborhoods and immigrant

          5  families must undergo in order to receive an

          6  education.

          7                 It is irrational for the State to be

          8  asking minority students to borrow $212 million to

          9  pay for the tuition, at the same time that Senator

         10  Schumer just yesterday released a report stating

         11  that conventional banks are neglecting black

         12  neighborhoods, creating a void filled by high-cost

         13  and abusive lenders.

         14                 Actually, in a recent interview,

         15  Senator Schumer said, and I quote, "the results

         16  suggested that racial discrimination continues to be

         17  a factor in the way banks issue loans."

         18                 Is it not unrealistic to suggest that

         19  while banks are more likely to deny home loans to

         20  blacks and Latinos, which is backed by an asset,

         21  that they will somehow now make loans available for

         22  their education?

         23                 This problem is so well known that

         24  you even heard the Chancellor mention that the

         25  Governor has included a $10 million allocation for
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          2  those students who will not be able to secure loans.

          3                 If it is so well documented that

          4  students would not be able to secure loans for their

          5  education during the next fiscal year, then why

          6  should you mandate it?

          7                 It is by now well documented that it

          8  is very difficult, if not impossible, for the

          9  average student fitting the profile of the CUNY

         10  student body to graduate within the four years of

         11  assistance that TAP presently provides.

         12                 If, in fact, the intent of the

         13  Governor's proposal is to provide an incentive for

         14  students to graduate, then I would ask that the City

         15  Council also include in its resolution to the state

         16  that the solution lies not cutting tuition

         17  assistance but in increasing assistance for two more

         18  semesters, for a total of five years of assistance

         19  for full-time study.

         20                 What is most distressing is that

         21  these changes are being proposed at the same time

         22  that a report by the Education Department just last

         23  week showed that there is a statewide gap of 34

         24  points between the percentage of black and Latino

         25  students meeting state standards in fourth grade
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          2  English.

          3                 In eighth grade math, 52 percent of

          4  whites met standards statewide, compared with 13

          5  percent of blacks, a gap of 39 percent, and that's

          6  just at the eighth grade level.

          7                 This racial divide will ultimately

          8  sentence the majority of our children to poverty. I

          9  do not believe that this City, and the taxpayers of

         10  this City, can afford their failure. I know that

         11  those of us who come from those communities cannot

         12  remain silent, not in the face of what is

         13  potentially the most disastrous task in doing away

         14  with TAP.

         15                 A $212 million cut, a $345 million

         16  shift from TANF, taken from people who were supposed

         17  to have gotten job training and child care. 212

         18  million, 345, I know that my English is not that

         19  well, but my math is. What this will do is it will

         20  eliminate half of the general fund commitment for

         21  the State of New York for three decades for the

         22  first time in the dark of night. And it has been

         23  presented as a $155 million cut. It is not. This

         24  proposal should not be accepted by the New York

         25  State Legislature, that is why I respectfully, after
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          2  having retired two years ago, after not having

          3  presented testimony before any legislative body,

          4  felt that it was my responsibility to respectfully

          5  ask this Committee to commit to the full City

          6  Council a new resolution, one that will call on the

          7  State not to approve the proposed changes to the TAP

          8  funding as it is presently structured; number two,

          9  that it would outright reject the redirection of

         10  TANF dollars to pay for TAP funding, and number

         11  three, that at a minimum, the governor and the State

         12  Legislature increase tuition assistance for two

         13  additional semesters.

         14                 Thank you so much for your patience

         15  and kindness.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We want to thank

         17  Professor Ramirez. And I'm so glad that we put you

         18  up there, so the students can make sure you hear

         19  this.

         20                 If I may take a moment, what I want

         21  to do with this hearing, usually you know you are my

         22  pride and joy, and I put you up first before anybody

         23  at most of our hearings, but today I wanted to hear

         24  the commitment to you. I wanted everybody to come up

         25  and make their statements and their commitment to
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          2  you, because we know where we stand. And this was

          3  one of the most powerful and passionate commitments

          4  to you.

          5                 And I want to say this, that this was

          6  a wonderful present for us today, because today is

          7  Roberto's birthday. For him to, on this birthday, to

          8  sit here and patiently wait for his turn to testify

          9  and to deliver such a powerful, well-documented,

         10  pointed testimony is really a credit to you and your

         11  commitment to our students and this City and this

         12  State, we thank you so much for your presentation.

         13                 And Council Member Brewer has a

         14  question.

         15                 MR. RAMIREZ: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         17  very much. It is an honor that this is a topic you

         18  chose to make a priority, for all of us.

         19                 My question is this: In your tenure

         20  in social services, and I know Deborah Glick is

         21  there, and I know what a great job you did; two

         22  things, one, I know TANF is always being robbed in

         23  any way, shape or form, I would use that word, and I

         24  think this is just one more example, but has the

         25  Governor put forward such a proposal in the past in
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          2  terms of using TANF for something like this, or for

          3  cutting TAP? Or is this a particularly egregious

          4  situation?

          5                 MR. RAMIREZ: Thank you for the

          6  question. You happen to be absolutely right. The

          7  budgetary process in the State of New York is a

          8  wonderful process, it's very basic. You set out cuts

          9  for every single year that you know the Legislature

         10  is going to have to restore. So, TAP has been always

         11  the subject of cuts. Just like Medicaid, knowing

         12  that the Legislature will have to restore it, I sort

         13  of describe it this way. If you're always behind in

         14  your rent, and you're always under the threat that

         15  you will be evicted, you will never be able to save

         16  enough money to buy the building, therefore, you

         17  will never be able to get out of hock. That's

         18  exactly the issue with TAP.

         19                 The problem is that at the present

         20  time the only way, the only way, and the reason why

         21  I'm here today, the reason why this is so important

         22  to me is because if in 1975, Bronx Community College

         23  are not giving me the opportunity to take remedial

         24  courses, I would have never made it out of NYU

         25  undergraduate, I would have never become a lawyer,
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          2  and it is shameful that today in the City of New

          3  York, when we've just appropriated $20 billion on an

          4  economic investment that is necessary, that we will

          5  not invest in this City, in the future of this City,

          6  at a time when we know that this racial divide in

          7  education is so great that we are doomed to fail.

          8  This City will fail, unless it changes the way that

          9  it handles education. It is the only way out of

         10  poverty for people such as myself, and I think we

         11  have a responsibility to live up to that.

         12                 For ten years I was in the Assembly,

         13  for ten years there was a proposed cut to TAP, and

         14  for ten years we ended up restoring it, never

         15  enhancing it, and the time has come, it has to be

         16  done.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

         18  much for your testimony.

         19                 MR. RAMIREZ: Mr. Chairman, I want to

         20  thank you. You referred to me as a professor, and

         21  though I think I'm a professor of life, you should

         22  know I am being considered for a teaching class. I

         23  love that. I hope to be able to bring some of that,

         24  but it hasn't been done yet. I did want to mention

         25  that it was a little bit premature, even though you
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          2  can always call me "professor." Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, I see that

          4  as prophesying, not premature.

          5                 MR. RAMIREZ: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: You will be a

          7  professor.

          8                 Thank you very much for your

          9  testimony. And happy birthday.

         10                 We've been joined by Council Member

         11  Golden and Council Member Margarita Lopez. And I do

         12  want to say about Council Member Margarita Lopez, I

         13  don't care if she gets mad at me, because she's very

         14  humble, but we were honored that she was honored by

         15  the Legal Puerto Rican community, a Latino Legal

         16  Community the other night, and we are just honored

         17  to have people honor her, because she is one of our

         18  strongest fighters for our students, and our people

         19  in this and all people of New York City in this City

         20  Council.

         21                 Please give Margarita Lopez a big

         22  hand-clapping. She can beat me up after this, that's

         23  all right.

         24                 If she puts her hands up, clap even

         25  louder. Give her a bigger hand clap.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 Now we're going to have the four

          4  students -- what we're going to do, because we want

          5  to make sure that you hear all the people committed

          6  to you, and if you could hang with us a little

          7  longer, we want to make all those who are committed

          8  to you to come on the record and say this in front

          9  of you. That's why this is more important for us. So

         10  we have presidents of college that are here, and we

         11  want them to speak to you as well. So, we're going

         12  to have them come forth, and then we'll get to our

         13  students' testimony. This is for people who are

         14  committed to you today.

         15                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next witnesses are

         16  Delores Fernandez, and Donald Simon. Delores

         17  Fernandez from Hostos Community College, and Donald

         18  Simon from Monroe College.

         19                 If you can both sit and I'll swear

         20  you in. That way we'll move in panels of two or

         21  three.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 Please raise your right hands.

         24                 Do you each swear individually that

         25  the testimony you are about to give before this
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          2  Committee is the whole truth and to the best of your

          3  knowledge?

          4                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Yes.

          5                 MR. SIMON: Yes.

          6                 MS. FERNANDEZ: I do.

          7                 MR. SIMON: I do.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay.

          9                 Please each state your name,

         10  organization and position for the record. Thank you.

         11                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Okay. My name is Maria

         12  Delores Rodriguez Sanchez Fernandez, and I'm

         13  President of Hostos Community College.

         14                 Good afternoon, Speaker Miller,

         15  Councilwoman Baez, and members of the City Council.

         16  I am Delores Fernandez, President of Eugenio Maria

         17  de Hostos Community College in the South Bronx. And

         18  thank you for inviting me to speak with you

         19  regarding the impact of the proposed TAP

         20  modifications on community colleges within CUNY and

         21  Hostos Community College in particular.

         22                 Let me begin by telling you a little

         23  bit about Hostos Community College. This institution

         24  was established in 1968 to serve Hispanics, blacks

         25  and other residents of New York City who have
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          2  encountered significant barriers to higher

          3  education. It is located in one of the poorest

          4  congressional districts in the United States.

          5                 Our student population is 98 percent

          6  minority, 75 percent are women, 65 percent are

          7  parents, and 42 percent are single parents.

          8                 It may surprise you to learn that one

          9  of our students attended classes and graduated in

         10  good standing at a time when he was sleeping in the

         11  subway.

         12                 Hostos Community College is also the

         13  home of a Serrano Scholars Program. If you haven't

         14  heard about this program, it prepares a cadre of

         15  outstanding Hostos students to continue their

         16  education at Columbia University in preparation for

         17  diplomatic or foreign policy careers.

         18                 A Serrano scholar who graduated this

         19  winter, scored 1400 on her scholastic aptitude test,

         20  and is now applying to Columbia. While attending

         21  Hostos she lived in a homeless shelter with her

         22  two-year-old son.

         23                 Of course not all of our students are

         24  hardship cases, but not many of them lead easy

         25  lives. Most are the first in their families to
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          2  attend college. Like members of earlier generations

          3  they are willing to give their all to achieve the

          4  American dream. They have the determination,

          5  dedication, the drive they need to beat the odds of

          6  poverty and climb the ladder of social mobility.

          7                 However, it's a simple economic fact

          8  that they also need financial assistance to make

          9  their dreams come true.

         10                 The City Council recognized this fact

         11  when it established the Peter F. Vallone Academic

         12  Scholarship Program which helped to make it possible

         13  for New York City High School graduates with a B

         14  average or higher to attend any of the 17

         15  undergraduate colleges in the CUNY system.

         16                 Vallone scholarships are currently

         17  funded at $1,450 per annum and are renewable for the

         18  length of the degree program. As long as these

         19  students continue to meet their eligibility

         20  criteria.

         21                 Though the composition of the City

         22  Council has changed since this program was

         23  established, I am confident that the current members

         24  will recognize its importance and continue its

         25  funding.
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          2                 The proposed TAP modifications,

          3  however, are a matter of considerable concern. If

          4  the proposal to redistribute TAP funds for students

          5  in New York is implemented, it will surely have

          6  detrimental consequences for our students.

          7                 The Governor has proposed that an

          8  academic performance-based component be added to a

          9  needs-based program that was created and approved by

         10  our elected officials. This would go into effect as

         11  early as next year and defer payment of one-third of

         12  the students' annual award until after graduation.

         13                 Because TAP is need based and

         14  determined by family income, it is clear that the

         15  proposed change would place almost all Latinos and

         16  students of African heritage at a great

         17  disadvantage.

         18                 The average household income in the

         19  South Bronx, where minorities are the majority, is

         20  $16,800. This is half the average income for

         21  households in other parts of the City.

         22                 Moreover, 65 percent of Hostos

         23  students fall below the poverty line. Of the almost

         24  3,500 students enrolled at Hostos, 70 percent

         25  receive TAP, and approximately 80 percent have an
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          2  established need for financial aid.

          3                 Our students budget their financial

          4  aid down to the last penny. Some of them have

          5  difficulty scraping together enough to buy a

          6  MetroCard. Now they are being asked to absorb a

          7  shortfall intended to impel them toward a goal

          8  toward which they are already committed. Ironically,

          9  this immediate loss of income may very well have the

         10  undesired effect of pushing students out of college.

         11                 In addition to other challenges that

         12  our students face, many are required to enroll in

         13  English-as-a-second language or remedial classes.

         14  While it generally takes English language learners

         15  longer to earn their degrees, they now must do so

         16  within six semesters.

         17                 Considering the increased academic

         18  pressure, how can we ask these students to shoulder

         19  the added burden of reduced financial assistance.

         20                 Even students who receive the maximum

         21  TAP award must use part of the federal Pell award to

         22  meet the full cost of attendance.

         23                 Moreover, college course will

         24  increase by another $75 a semester with this new

         25  technology fee students are required to pay.
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          2                 All other expenses incurred by

          3  students, books, school supplies, transportation,

          4  food, newspapers, health care, must be covered from

          5  their personal income, if any, and the Pell award,

          6  which averages less than $300 per month for those

          7  who receive the maximum.

          8                 If one-third of the TAP award is

          9  withheld until graduation, students will have the

         10  balance of their tuition, almost $550 deducted from

         11  their Pell award.

         12                 This means that a student receiving

         13  the maximum amount from Pell would have less than

         14  $260 for all other expenses.

         15                 With such a small amount left to

         16  cover the cost of living, the economically

         17  disadvantaged student may not be able to continue

         18  his or her studies.

         19                 The effect of withholding would be

         20  diametrically opposed to its intent. The students

         21  who enroll in Hostos Community College want to

         22  become productive, self-sufficient members of

         23  society. They want to prepare themselves for entry

         24  level positions or advancement in the workforce.

         25                 Their strongest motivation is often
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          2  the need to provide for their children.

          3                 Of the approximately 80 percent of

          4  our students who are eligible for financial aid, the

          5  majority qualify for the maximum federal and state

          6  award. This indicates that their income is well

          7  below the poverty level.

          8                 Moreover, it must be noted that those

          9  with the least access to socioeconomic opportunity,

         10  the poor, immigrants, and people of color are

         11  concentrated in the cities, and the cost of living

         12  in New York City is one of the highest in the

         13  nation.

         14                 And loans, as you all well know, are

         15  less of an option for the poor, because of the

         16  absence of financial base, lack of financial

         17  information and credit realities.

         18                 While the monetary incentive model

         19  has been used successfully to encourage employee

         20  performance in business, it is not applicable to the

         21  academic situations that exist at Hostos and other

         22  colleges in the CUNY system.

         23                 In business, employees have a steady

         24  source of income. Most of our students do not.

         25  Without financial aid, higher education is beyond
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          2  their means. For this reason the TAP proposal would

          3  block the mobility and advancement of the neediest

          4  of our students, and eventually have negative

          5  consequences for the work force and the economy of

          6  the City and the State.

          7                 On behalf of the working college

          8  going poor of the City and the State who aspire to

          9  better lives for themselves and their children, I

         10  urge you not to implement this proposal. And I say

         11  this, sitting as president of Hostos Community

         12  College, also the recipient of TAP awards when I was

         13  a student, and may I say that one of the proudest

         14  moments of my life recently was that I had the

         15  ability to shake the hand of Senator Pell, who made

         16  it possible for this president to go to college and

         17  finish her degrees. So, I know full well the

         18  sacrifices of my students, and that's why I'm here

         19  today, to ask you to do exactly what you did before.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

         22  much for your testimony.

         23                 I also want to take this moment just

         24  to say that we will be entering a written testimony

         25  in the record from the Welfare Rights Initiative at
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          2  Hunter College, Maureen Lane. They submitted written

          3  testimony and that will be entered into the record.

          4                 Thank you for your testimony.

          5                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We ask, so that

          7  we can get as much in as possible, we try to

          8  summarize the testimony so that we can get in as

          9  many as possible before we have to leave.

         10                 But once again, students, today, this

         11  was mainly for you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I need to tell

         13  you, I'm so proud of you.

         14                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Thank you. And I'm so

         15  proud of you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am one of

         17  those students also, that would have never learned

         18  to write and read or graduate or anything if I

         19  didn't have TAP. Then it's clear what that purpose,

         20  the purpose is of that particular funding for all of

         21  us.

         22                 But the question is, the student that

         23  you referred to, you said that if this particular

         24  piece of request being implemented, together with

         25  the new welfare reforms that are going to begin now
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          2  with the five years limited, if that student would

          3  be living today the situation that she was living at

          4  the time, would she be able to graduate, go to

          5  Columbia University, and end her career

          6  successfully?

          7                 MS. FERNANDEZ: No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Under no

          9  circumstances?

         10                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Well, I think that one

         11  thing that we have at Hostos Community College is

         12  that we take our students under our wing, and we

         13  knew of her situation because we took the interest

         14  of finding out her situation. So probably, and I can

         15  ask my president of Student Development to confirm

         16  it or not, we would have sought out whatever means

         17  we could in order for her to graduate. That's what

         18  Hostos Community College is all about.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Suppose that

         20  Hostos Community College is not the way it is,

         21  suppose it is a regular kind of a place where you

         22  have to have the money to pay for the tuition, you

         23  don't have it, it's over, period.

         24                 MS. FERNANDEZ: No, she'd be out on

         25  the street. She'd be out on the street, she'd still
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          2  be in a homeless shelter probably, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          4                 MS. FERNANDEZ: And in September she's

          5  going to Columbia University.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then when we

          7  reject this, colleagues of mine, let's call it on

          8  the name of that student, on her honor, for all of

          9  the efforts that she conducted, because we're going

         10  to reject this.

         11                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Oh, Margarita, you're

         12  going to make me cry.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes, and well

         14  received.

         15                 Council Member Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         17  That was wonderful testimony, Madam President.

         18                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have a quick

         20  question. The question is picking up on Mr. Ramirez,

         21  hopefully that we can enhance TAP down the line,

         22  what would be some examples of how TAP should be

         23  enhanced that would, in fact, benefit the students

         24  even more?

         25                 MS. FERNANDEZ: Well, extend the
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          2  semesters is one thing. I don't remember any

          3  limitations in place when I was going to school,

          4  and, so, all of a sudden limitations are being put

          5  in place all over the place, and I question that,

          6  too, because I think that the increased number of

          7  minority students and students of color, may

          8  indicate why all of these indications are there.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 MR. SIMON: Good afternoon,

         12  Chairperson Barron, Chairperson Baez, members of the

         13  City Council Committee. I'm Donald Simon, I'm the

         14  Academic Dean of Monroe College, which is located in

         15  the Bronx, New York, we have a branch in New

         16  Rochelle.

         17                 We are not part of CUNY, and I'm here

         18  speaking on behalf of all the students in all the

         19  colleges in New York State. And I'm going to

         20  summarize my testimony because I know time is

         21  getting short, but in answer to Councilperson

         22  Brewer's question about enhancing TAP, limitations

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Excuse me. I

         25  don't mean to interrupt your testimony, but I just
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          2  wanted to say this about Council Member Brewer, who

          3  has to go, she has other engagements now, but she

          4  stays to the end of just about every hearing we

          5  have. So, I wanted to personally thank her for her

          6  commitment to you and her commitment to CUNY and to

          7  this Committee. So, thank you very much, Council

          8  Member Brewer.

          9                 I apologize for the interruption.

         10                 MR. SIMON: No problem.

         11                 The point is, students have to have

         12  the opportunity to complete their college education.

         13  Indeed the traditional college student today is the

         14  non-traditional student. Everything that the

         15  Governor's proposal seeks to impose goes against

         16  logic.  Students today have to drop out and stop out

         17  for various reasons, yet data indicate that students

         18  do complete and do graduate. That's what we have to

         19  enforce. We have to provide a mechanism for

         20  everybody to have choice, access and completion of a

         21  college education, whether it takes two years, four

         22  years or ten years. That's the important point.

         23                 Let me just summarize some of the

         24  points I have here.

         25                 The actual proposal will have a
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          2  devastating cost to the state, because the cost of

          3  administering this complex process will reduce any

          4  projected savings.

          5                 Further, fewer students will attend

          6  college, because many poor people, many low-income

          7  people are fearful of incurring debt, so they will

          8  not go to college, because they don't want to risk

          9  having that debt over their lives.

         10                 Further, there's a significant loss

         11  to the state potentially regarding the student loan

         12  issue.

         13                 If greater numbers of loans to

         14  low-income students take place, there could be

         15  higher default rates, which means that institutions

         16  of higher education could lose their opportunity,

         17  not only to give loans, but to give Pell grants and

         18  all other title for federal programs. This could

         19  cost the State and the students and the colleges

         20  money.

         21                 As I say, graduation is not the only

         22  measure of success. That everyone who fails to

         23  complete a degree is unsuccessful. Significant

         24  numbers of people can begin or advance in meaningful

         25  careers based on only a few semesters of collegiate
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          2  study. That's another important point. And as I

          3  said, students do graduate. Not necessarily in two

          4  years or four years, but many do graduate and

          5  ultimately become taxpayers, and members of society

          6  who look upon the education they got as the

          7  mechanism that makes it possible for them. So, the

          8  traditional student is not the traditional student.

          9                 And just one last point, if I may.

         10  Don't destroy what works. With seven percent of the

         11  nation's population, New Yorkers earn more than nine

         12  percent of the academic degrees awarded in the

         13  United States. Clearly the higher education of New

         14  York State works. TAP is a key element of that

         15  success, and our historic commitment as New Yorkers

         16  to access and excellence must be sustained.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

         19                 Council Member Dilan.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Mr. Simon, I

         21  want to thank you for your testimony. I think it

         22  brings to light, you know, a lot of the problems

         23  that children have when they go to school.

         24                 I myself was not a recipient of TAP

         25  during my college years. I was forced to take
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          2  student loans, and I believe that, you know, an

          3  investment in myself is probably the best investment

          4  that I could make.

          5                 But, you know, I also understand,

          6  coming from the community of Bushwick in Brooklyn,

          7  that not too many students had the opportunity or

          8  the means that I might have had. So, I'm glad you

          9  bring to light the financial pressures that students

         10  have to take in order to go into college. And, you

         11  know, I urge every student, invest in yourself. It's

         12  the best investment you can ever make. And if you

         13  can't put it into yourself, nobody else is going to

         14  do it for you.

         15                 So, Mr. Barron, I also want to go on

         16  record in support of this bill, and I will urge my

         17  local legislators to reject this bill, to reject

         18  this proposal if the Governor does implement it.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Thank you for your testimony.

         23                 So, Mr. Barron, I also want to go on

         24  record in support of this bill, and I will urge my

         25  local legislators to reject this proposal if the
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          2  Governor does implement it. Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Thank you for your testimony.

          6                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, our next panel

          7  will be a panel of students.

          8                 Camille Rivera, Chairperson of the

          9  NYPIRG Student Board of Directors.

         10                 Libertad Dominicana Martinez, of the

         11  Bronx Community College.

         12                 Natsuko Tsuchisa, of Borough of

         13  Manhattan Community College.

         14                 Antonio Cruz of New York City

         15  Technical College.

         16                 Please raise your right hand.

         17                 Do you each swear individually that

         18  the testimony you're about to provide before this

         19  Committee is the whole truth?

         20                 MS. MARTINEZ: Yes.

         21                 MR. CRUZ: Yes.

         22                 MS. TSUCHIDA: Yes.

         23                 MS. RIVERA: Yes.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS: And to the best of your

         25  knowledge?
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          2                 MS. RIVERA: Yes.

          3                 MS. TSUCHIDA: Yes.

          4                 MR. CRUZ: Yes.

          5                 MS. MARTINEZ: Yes.

          6                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your names

          7  and organization before you begin your testimony for

          8  the record.

          9                 Camille Rivera goes first.

         10                 MS. RIVERA: Okay. I'm Camille Rivera,

         11  NYPIRG, New York Public Interest Research Group.

         12                 MS. MARTINEZ: Libertad Domininicana

         13  Martinez, Community College.

         14                 MR. CRUZ: Antonio Cruz, of New York

         15  City Technical College.

         16                 MS. TSUCHIDA: Natsuko Tsuchida, from

         17  BMCC.

         18                 MS. RIVERA: Okay, well, thank you for

         19  allowing me the opportunity to testify today, and

         20  I'll try to be as brief as possible, because I know

         21  there's a lot more prying issues.

         22                 I first want to thank you for

         23  adopting this Resolution 131. This is a very strong

         24  step to support the City University of New York, as

         25  well as the State University of New York, who also
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          2  will have a lot of problems if this proposal is

          3  passed.

          4                 So, good afternoon. For the record,

          5  my name is Camille Rivera. I'm the Chairperson for

          6  the New York Public Interest Research Group, NYPIRG,

          7  and a CUNY student at Queens College.

          8                 As you may already know, NYPIRG is a

          9  Statewide nonpartisan not-for-profit research and

         10  advocacy organization, directed by college and

         11  university students who are elected from each of the

         12  20 campuses that have a NYPIRG chapter.

         13                 As a student-directed organization,

         14  NYPIRG represents New York City and State College

         15  students' interests in maintaining access to high

         16  quality affordable higher education of both public

         17  and independent institutions, it is this mission

         18  that brings us here today to support Resolution No.

         19  131 and the City Council's efforts to fight the

         20  Governor's TAP proposal.

         21                 NYPIRG for the past couple of months

         22  has been really, really fighting against the

         23  Governor's proposal, we recently on March 5th

         24  brought 500 students all across CUNY and SUNY to

         25  lobby the State Legislature to put these programs
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          2  back and to really represent students at this time

          3  in the time of need.

          4                 Governor Pataki recommends a minimum

          5  cut of $155 million from TAP and a change to the way

          6  these grants are administered.

          7                 Under the new plan TAP recipients

          8  will receive two-thirds base award while in college.

          9  The remaining one-third performance award will be

         10  granted after graduation.

         11                 For example, a recipient of a 3,000

         12  annual grant will receive only $2,000 while in

         13  college, and be required to fund the additional

         14  $1,000 through their loans or from his or her own

         15  pocket.

         16                 Although this money, which may accrue

         17  to $4,000 or more during a college career, will be

         18  reimbursed with interest upon graduation, this means

         19  more loans, more debts, and hassle for students and

         20  their families.

         21                 This measure significantly impacts

         22  low and moderate income students. The lower your

         23  income, the more TAP you receive, the more you are

         24  impacted by the plan.

         25                 It makes no sense to us to make
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          2  attending college more harder for lower-income

          3  students.

          4                 These policies -- I'm very proud to

          5  be a City University student. You know, I'm a

          6  student at Queens College, I was a student at Queens

          7  Borough Community College, and I'm very, very proud

          8  to be from New York City, from CUNY.

          9                 There is a constant problem when more

         10  and more policies and barriers are put in front of

         11  us.

         12                 I'm a single mother, I have a child

         13  who is going to be seven years old, and I have had

         14  to struggle every day of my life, and when more of

         15  these policies and more of these budget cuts are

         16  coming forth to our students, it just makes it

         17  harder from a person who has struggled to have to

         18  struggle more.

         19                 And I want to do more things, I want

         20  to finish college, I want to go to law school, I

         21  want to represent my community as an organizer and

         22  an activist, and this is such a problem for the

         23  students at the City University of New York from

         24  poor middle-income communities and from the Bronx,

         25  and I'll keep my testimony brief, and thank you for
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          2  allowing me to testify.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MS. MARTINEZ: Good afternoon. I am a

          6  student from Bronx Community College, and I hope to

          7  pursue a career as a photographer.

          8                 I currently tutor other students in

          9  Bronx Community College in photography, and I also

         10  work part-time as an English/Spanish translator for

         11  a lawyer.

         12                 I just want to ask one simple

         13  question. Can you tell me why anyone would want to

         14  cut a program that is a lifeline for people who want

         15  to better their life? And I also want you to help

         16  me, please -- me and many other students to fulfill

         17  their dreams to a higher education. It seems to me

         18  there is more investment that will yield many, many

         19  years of return as I become a worker, a role model

         20  for my son, and a taxpayer.

         21                 That is everything I have to say.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you

         24  very, very much for that testimony. Thank you.

         25                 MR. CRUZ: I'm a student of New York
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          2  City Technical College, and I'm one of many

          3  students, thousands of them, who work and go to

          4  school.

          5                 Should they take away this money from

          6  the TAP program, I'll be forced to take out a loan,

          7  just like many other students, and go more into

          8  debt.

          9                 My generation is more in debt than

         10  any other generation. Pataki's plan would just put

         11  us more in debt. We need education, we do not need

         12  more debt in our lives.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         15  much for that testimony.

         16                 MS. TSUCHIDA: Good afternoon. My name

         17  is Natsuko Tsuchida, from BMCC. Actually, the TAP

         18  reduction doesn't affect me directly, but I'd like

         19  to talk about how the CUNY budget affects me.

         20                 I'm majoring in human services, which

         21  offers less classes than other majors, than business

         22  or liberal arts. The budget cut will make us have

         23  less opportunity to take class, because other

         24  sections might befall and -- I'm sorry - student

         25  graduation and also like other plans.
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          2                 High quality of education is

          3  necessary and important for everybody to get jobs.

          4  Everyone, including me, an international student,

          5  has a right to get an education that we need for our

          6  future.

          7                 Thank you for hearing my testimony.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

          9  much. I think once I messed up on that word

         10  "subsequently" I just messed up everybody else, so

         11  we both were struggling today, so you did a fine job

         12  testifying. We thank you for that testimony.

         13                 MS. TSUCHIDA: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And we do want to

         15  hear some comments from Council Member Sears, and

         16  then we'll continue our student panelists.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chair.

         19                 I really want to thank Councilwoman

         20  Baez, and Councilman Barron, for holding this joint

         21  meeting.

         22                 I think we have heard some very

         23  extraordinary testimony today.

         24                 I'm a graduate of the public system

         25  of New York City, and although I did not have to
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          2  avail myself of TAP, we must do everything we can to

          3  see that we do not have these cuts, because whether

          4  we need them or we don't, if we don't support each

          5  other for the betterment of our students, our

          6  families and the City, then we really don't have

          7  very much of anything. And I'm going to ask that we

          8  do everything we can in the Council to see that we

          9  move forward to protect the TAP and the students who

         10  avail themselves of that.

         11                 So, I urge us to do that, and I hope

         12  that everyone here and in the Council will support

         13  us to do that.

         14                 You really have our support. You have

         15  mine, I have everyone up here, and hopefully we can

         16  be very successful and persuade the State

         17  Legislature to do the right thing.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 MS. BOLANOS: Chair Barron stepped

         20  away, so Chair Baez will be chairing the hearing at

         21  this point.

         22                 We are now going to --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Excuse me?

         24                 MS. BOLANOS: Yes, Council Member

         25  Lopez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can I ask a

          3  question on the record, Madam Chair?

          4                 I would like to know if the voting

          5  was left open, in case that one of us was late to be

          6  able to vote on the Resolution?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Yes, it was. And

          8  you can vote on the resolution.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you. I

         10  exercise my right after this panel speaks. Thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.

         13                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, the next panel of

         14  students are Destiny Mata; Akara Allen Holder;

         15  Diaranna Zarzuela and Quinton Spikener.

         16                 MS. MATA: Hi. My name is Destiny

         17  Lorraine Mata.

         18                 MS. BOLANOS: One moment, please. I'm

         19  sorry, my fault.

         20                 We just need to make a little

         21  housekeeping announcement. Just bear with us, wait

         22  until all the students come up. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Anyone who is here

         24  for the Governmental Operations Committee meeting,

         25  it's being held in the Committee Room.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, please raise your

          3  right hand.

          4                 Do you each swear individually that

          5  you will tell the whole truth in the testimony

          6  you're about to give in this Committee?

          7                 MS. ZARZUELA: Yes.

          8                 MS. MATA: Yes.

          9                 MR. HOLDER: Yes.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, please state your

         11  name and organization for the record before you

         12  begin your testimony.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MS. MATA: My name is Destiny Lorraine

         15  Mata, and I go to Simon Baruch Middle School.

         16                 My mother attends BMCC and I hope one

         17  day that I will graduate from a CUNY College like my

         18  mother will.

         19                 Every day I see my mom struggle to

         20  afford school, and I hope her struggles become less.

         21                 I'm here to ask you, the Council

         22  members, to help my mother and other CUNY students

         23  like her.

         24                 I feel on my mother's behalf and mine

         25  that there will be enough funds for my mother and
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          2  for CUNY students, as well as for my education in

          3  the future.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. HOLDER: My name is Akara Holder.

          6  I'm a Queens College graduate student.

          7                 I just actually would like to say

          8  that there's an article by the New York Times, July

          9  11th, 1999, and it's called what the CUNY bashes

         10  overlooked. I'll just state what I underlined in the

         11  article.

         12                 It turns out that CUNY graduation

         13  rate is better than the national average for public

         14  universities.

         15                 Graduates from the largest senior

         16  colleges are more likely than students nationally to

         17  earn Ph.Ds.

         18                 That's it. Thank you.

         19                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, Council Member

         20  Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes. I would

         22  like permission to cast my vote on this resolution,

         23  Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Yes. Please, go

         25  ahead.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Before I

          3  proceed to vote, I want to make categorically clear

          4  to everyone who is listening in the Chamber, that

          5  it's shameful that Governor Pataki has the audacity

          6  to propose such a measurement. He, of all people,

          7  who has been walking around this state, talking

          8  about embracing people of color and bringing people

          9  of color into the structures of power, should be

         10  very aware that the way that he will guarantee not

         11  to allow such a thing as with a proposal like this,

         12  and I don't want to believe that Governor Pataki

         13  understands the consequences of what he's doing with

         14  this proposal. But I am very clear that whatever

         15  intention is behind this proposal must be defeated.

         16  And I am very proud right here to say that as a past

         17  TAP student, as a student that went to public

         18  education, and through public education from first

         19  grade to college, I'm voting aye on this resolution.

         20                 And shame on you, Governor Pataki,

         21  for proposing such a proposal.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you, Council

         23  member.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next panel of

         25  students, please step forward.
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          2                 Dennis Sinned; Lily Li; Javier Genao;

          3  and Leslie Spires. Thank you.

          4                 Please raise your right hand.

          5                 Do you each independently swear that

          6  you will tell the truth here before this Committee,

          7  and to the best of your knowledge, in the testimony

          8  that you're about to give?

          9                 MR. SINNED: We do. Yes, I do.

         10                 MS. LI: We do.

         11                 MS. SPIRES: I do.

         12                 MR. GENAO: I do.

         13                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, please state your

         14  name and organization for the record, before you

         15  begin your testimony. Thank you.

         16                 MS. SPIRES: My name is Leslie Spires.

         17  I'm from Hunter College.

         18                 First, I would like to thank you for

         19  passing the resolution, and I want to thank all

         20  those who brought to light these issues facing

         21  students.

         22                 While the rich are receiving tax

         23  cuts, we as students are facing a number of cuts,

         24  tuition hikes, a $75 technology fee, cuts in child

         25  care, and cuts in opportunity problems. So, I have
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          2  to look forward to future resolutions proposing

          3  these cuts, and I would like to say that we are here

          4  to show you that the students are committed to this

          5  fight, and we will continue to fight until we have

          6  won against these cuts. We will fight Pataki and

          7  anybody else who promotes these cuts.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you all

         10  for your testimony.

         11                 MR. GENAO: Good morning. Thanks to

         12  all those who have been with us here and are willing

         13  to listen to our testimony.

         14                 I am Javier Genao. I am in BMCC. I'm

         15  with the Coalition of Cultural Awareness.

         16                 What we have here with these CUNY

         17  budget cuts and Tuition Assistance Program cuts, and

         18  tuition increases, is another example of this

         19  country's government's constant attack on the

         20  improperly educated and economically challenged of

         21  the American society.

         22                 I want to know, what is the true

         23  logic certain officials have when they propose to

         24  decrease the available resources of CUNY, for

         25  example, and cut the budget of an already low budget
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          2  institution, and then propose to increase tuition,

          3  for example, implementing a tech fee.

          4                 How is this just? How is this a

          5  public service to the people of America?

          6                 Either certain officials of the

          7  government don't respect the importance of

          8  education, or they don't respect the importance of

          9  all the people in this nation.

         10                 As shamefully and greedy as it

         11  sounds, I know everything in this system of

         12  government is looked at as an economic business.

         13                 I'm sure to the government education

         14  is also seen as a business, and what a terrible

         15  business proposal this is.

         16                 They want to decrease the quality of

         17  the product, City University of New York, and then

         18  they want to increase the price of the product,

         19  tuition.

         20                 I have yet to acquire a college

         21  degree, but there is no way anyone can convince me

         22  to pay more for a cheaper product.

         23                 That is a severe insult to my

         24  intelligence and the intelligence of all the people

         25  who attend or aspire to attend a City University of
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          2  New York.

          3                 With all the problems in today's

          4  society, and considering how many of them are

          5  directly or indirectly linked to poverty and

          6  ignorance, I most respectfully demand that all the

          7  way up to the Commander in Chief, George W. Bush,

          8  down to Governor Pataki, and Mayor Bloomberg, not

          9  even attempt to neglect education, and instead make

         10  high investments in education on all levels.

         11                 If knowledge is the key and knowledge

         12  is the power, then we must be educated. Let us be

         13  educated.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 We thank you very much for the power

         18  and passion of your testimony. Thank you.

         19                 MS. LI: Hi. My name is Lily Li. I am

         20  from BMCC. I'd like to thank all of you for this

         21  opportunity to allow me to share where I stand.

         22                 I am a full-time student at BMCC.

         23  Besides the financial aid assistance, I do not get

         24  any assistance anywhere else. My family does not

         25  provide any help. Financial aid has helped me to
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          2  concentrate on school course load and to allow me to

          3  be able to be involved in activities at school.

          4                 With the help of financial aid I plan

          5  to continue to a four-year school after I've

          6  graduated from BMCC. I do not carry any loans at the

          7  moment. If the proposal of the financial aid by the

          8  Governor is approved, then I will delay my

          9  educational goals and success.

         10                 This proposal may force me to stop

         11  continuing with my education and to work full-time.

         12                 This will leave me no other choice of

         13  the possibility to borrow loans. This is not my

         14  goals, and certainly not my dreams.

         15                 Thus, I will state, that I do not

         16  support the financial aid cut.

         17                 Again, I thank you for your patience

         18  and for listening to me. I appreciate your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         20  much for your testimony and taking the time and

         21  patience to be patient with us in waiting this long

         22  to testify.

         23                 We thank you very much.

         24                 MR. SINNED: Good afternoon,

         25  Councilpersons.
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          2                 My name is Dennis Sinned. I represent

          3  the student body. I'd like to say good afternoon to

          4  all the pertinent bodies also, but of highest

          5  pertinence being the students present in all

          6  arguments for and against education should always be

          7  prefaced with a nod to the ultimate importance of

          8  the students.

          9                 Some here present will be immediately

         10  offended by this opening claiming that not one

         11  official here will claim to be against education,

         12  but I argue that anyone who would endorse any

         13  obstacle to a student's enrollment and continued

         14  enrollment in our higher education institution, no

         15  matter how supposedly and small, innocuous and

         16  trivial, anyone who would endorse these obstacles is

         17  an enemy to education, hence, gaining the amenity of

         18  the friends of education, it is unfortunate that so

         19  many of those pertinent bodies left, got a chance to

         20  speak and then left before the students could speak,

         21  as it gives the impression that once again we are

         22  being spoken of instead of with.

         23                 Today when we speak of obstacles, we

         24  speak specifically of TAP reductions. When we

         25  condemn those who play fast and loose with TAP

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            97

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  disbursements.

          3                 I am a TAP recipient.  I am

          4  struggling to meet my tuition requirements with my

          5  minuscule TAP "award."

          6                 If the proposed TAP reductions are

          7  realized, I may not be able to return to school in

          8  the coming years. And if that should happen, I say

          9  that it is not just I who loses, but the City, the

         10  State and our society.

         11                 If the Council allows an oxymoron and

         12  accepted testimony, then I submit that I am one of

         13  those in the student body who is a typical

         14  innovator; innovator, because I am the first in my

         15  family to pursue a degree, and typical because so

         16  many in the student body fit that label.

         17                 We are the vanguard of the new

         18  paradigm. Those typical innovators, like myself,

         19  find themselves in danger of realizing their

         20  innovation because of these TAP attacks, and I say

         21  that if that danger is realized, woe to the City,

         22  woe to the State, and woe to our society.

         23                 Many of you legislators have never

         24  entertained a theory that we are in a recession

         25  because of disinvestment and education during the
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          2  fruitful years. You have been so busy searching for

          3  a lofty financial abstraction, you fail to note the

          4  truth. When you had the chance to fill your storage

          5  for the winter to come, the winter of now, you were

          6  drunk on the pressed grapes of prosperity.

          7                 Also, Eduardo Galliano once asked,

          8  who created the world? The answer was, we created

          9  the world. We bricklayers. And who are the

         10  bricklayers? Every inhabitant under sovereign soil.

         11  But education is the mortar by which we bind our

         12  bricks when we lay down that infinite, endless

         13  edifice of society. If you delight -- dilute your

         14  mortar -- excuse me, legislators -- you run the risk

         15  of loosening those bricks that we lay. You run the

         16  risk of toppling those towers that we build, the

         17  very world that we create that we inhabit, you and

         18  I. And if that should occur, I say woe to the City,

         19  woe to the State, and woe to our society.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 I would like just to give you the

         24  opportunity to make the distinction between the

         25  legislators sitting here and the ones you're talking
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          2  about in your testimony, because I'm sure they are

          3  somewhere else.

          4                 MR. SINNED: Well, I was hoping they

          5  would be here to hear this.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Oh, okay. Well, I

          7  just want to let everybody know they're not here

          8  now.

          9                 Thank you very much for that

         10  testimony. We certainly appreciate your patience and

         11  your testimony.

         12                 We have to wrap it up by 1:30, but we

         13  have two more panels, so if you can be very brief in

         14  your testimony, as you have been. The students have

         15  been very, very cooperative with that. This is your

         16  day, this is your college, you are the ones that

         17  make the university work.

         18                 So, we'll take two more panels then

         19  we'll wrap it up and everybody would have had a

         20  chance to testify, and that's what we aim to do in

         21  most of our hearings.

         22                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next panel is Wissam

         23  Alherech; Neida Fougere; Afsaneh Moradian; Raheem

         24  Hamilton.

         25                 Please raise your right hand.
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          2                 We have one more coming, okay.

          3                 Please raise your right hand. Do you

          4  swear that the testimony you're about to provide

          5  before this Committee is the whole truth and to the

          6  best of your knowledge?

          7                 MR. HAMILTON: I do.

          8                 MS. MORADIAN: I do.

          9                 MR. ALHERECH: I do.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay. Please state your

         11  name and organization for the record. Thank you.

         12                 MR. HAMILTON: Raheem Hamilton,

         13  student at Borough of Manhattan Community College.

         14                 MS. MORADIAN: Afsaneh Moradian,

         15  graduate student of Hunter College.

         16                 MR. ALHERECH: Wissam Alherech,

         17  student of BMCC.

         18                 MR. HAMILTON: Good afternoon,

         19  distinguished colleagues. My name is Raheem

         20  Hamilton. Like I said, I'm a student at Borough of

         21  Manhattan Community College.

         22                 I'm here to testify against the

         23  budget cut that Governor Pataki has opposed (sic) on

         24  the CUNY system.

         25                 Now, I, myself, receive TAP and Pell
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          2  because of my situation is right now I currently am

          3  living in a shelter, and regardless of my situation

          4  of living in a shelter, which is about to close down

          5  in, what, the end of this month, I'm still dedicated

          6  to continuing my education, even though I'm

          7  struggling in school. But hands down, my mama didn't

          8  raise no fool, and I was always to believe that I'm

          9  going to do what I have to do. I have a future that

         10  I want to succeed in life and everything, and I

         11  believe that what Governor Pataki is doing is

         12  really, it's destroying my plan. I don't believe in

         13  dreams, I believe in more plans and goals, so it's

         14  really destroying my plans of what I want to do and

         15  succeed in society and everything.

         16                 So, hands down, I really do oppose

         17  the budget cut and everything. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you. I

         19  appreciate that. Thank you very much. And we applaud

         20  your determination and your courage to be educated.

         21  I really think that that's commendable, so we thank

         22  you for your testimony.

         23                 MS. MARADIAN: We have come here today

         24  because serious decisions are being made that affect

         25  our lives, our futures, our education, and they're
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          2  being done without us being asked, without us having

          3  a voice at all in any of this. And I appreciate that

          4  we get to testify today. I appreciate that you

          5  passed the resolution. I think it needs to be raised

          6  that I think there's a serious problem with

          7  priorities going on in this state and in this

          8  country today.

          9                 Hundreds of millions of dollars are

         10  being spent on prisons in New York State, yet TAP is

         11  being cut. Tuition has been doubled for undocumented

         12  students at CUNY, we're getting hit with a

         13  technology fee, a 4.6 percent tuition increase, and

         14  all of it is being done without our consultation,

         15  without our voice, and I think that it's quite clear

         16  to me and I think to all of us here that we have to

         17  get out there and we have to get our voices heard.

         18                 It's a little bit disconcerting to me

         19  that we are the ones who are being affected by these

         20  cuts, yet we are getting to speak close to 1:30 to a

         21  pretty much empty room full of students. We already

         22  know why we're against it. I wish we had the

         23  opportunity to speak to the entire Committee and to

         24  a full room to be able to get our voices hard.

         25                 But I just think it means we have to
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          2  continue to do that in rallies, in other forums in

          3  the future to come.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, we

          5  certainly thank you very much for your testimony.

          6                 And as I have mentioned earlier, we

          7  generally have students first. We even had students

          8  first in our first hearings prior to the Chancellor.

          9  We had our voices heard, we were at a 10:00 rally

         10  this morning, press conference this morning, we

         11  walked through the streets of the City this morning,

         12  and here it's time for people to be committed to

         13  you, and I wanted people to come here and make that

         14  commitment to you and speak before you and have them

         15  on record.

         16                 What you just said, your testimony,

         17  will be recorded on television and it will be for

         18  everybody to see, because the cameras are still

         19  here, which is why I'm staying here until you get a

         20  chance to be heard.

         21                 But sometimes strategically you shift

         22  things around to have the greatest impact. So, by no

         23  means I will accept it as constructive criticism,

         24  but by no means will we ever, ever quiet your voice.

         25  We are the same voice, and we will be working
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          2  together with you to make sure that voice is heard.

          3  But that was some of the strategy for this

          4  particular hearing. But we thank you very much for

          5  your testimony.

          6                 MR. ALHERECH: My name is Wissam

          7  Alherech. I'm a student at BMCC. Please excuse me,

          8  I'm a bit nervous.

          9                 I would like to start off by thanking

         10  the Council for allowing me and my fellow students

         11  to speak here today.

         12                 I will only take a few minutes of

         13  your time to share with you a little about myself.

         14                 I, like Councilman Martinez, I'm also

         15  an immigrant to this country, but my home country is

         16  Syria. That's a little about myself.

         17                 Because of the program set up to

         18  provide tuition assistance, to me personally I was

         19  able to thrive and maintain my high school average

         20  of 85 straight through my freshman term in BMCC. I

         21  have a part-time job to try to make ends meet, along

         22  with my father's full-time job and my brother's

         23  part-time job. And to try to unburden ourselves from

         24  the financial situations we are in.

         25                 I have a request for the City
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          2  Council. Please correct me if I'm wrong. I, as an

          3  American citizen, am entitled to an education of

          4  higher standard; is that right? That is what I am

          5  entitled to. I know that for a fact.

          6                 I would like to thank to thank you,

          7  again, for your patience and your time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          9  much for the testimony. And you're absolutely right,

         10  you are entitled. It is a right of yours, and that's

         11  why we're having these hearings and we'll continue

         12  to support that right, and we thank you very much

         13  for your testimony.

         14                 MR. ALHERECH: Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can I ask a

         16  question?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Sure. Council

         18  Member Lopez.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I don't want to

         20  be intrusive with any one of you, I just was curious

         21  how old each and every one of you are?

         22                 MR. ALHERECH: I'm going on to 18 in

         23  July.

         24                 MR. HAMILTON: Twenty-one, going to be

         25  22 in August.
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          2                 MS. MARADIAN: Twenty-three.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Are you

          4  registered to vote?

          5                 MR. HAMILTON: I voted in 2000.

          6                 MR. MARADIAN: Yes.

          7                 MR. ALHERECH: As of July.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It's very

          9  important. That's the way that you get people to

         10  listen to you, or people who don't. Thank you.

         11                 MR. ALHERECH: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next panel is Maxine

         15  Spencer; Jose Torres; Yuvelka Figueroa; Richard

         16  Nunez; and Daniel Dromm.

         17                 Please raise your right hand.

         18                 Do you each independently swear that

         19  your testimony you're about to give before this

         20  Committee is the whole truth and to the best of your

         21  knowledge?

         22                 MR. TORRES: I do.

         23                 MR. DROMM: I do.

         24                 MS. FIGUEROA: I do.

         25                 MR. NUNEZ: I do.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

          3  and organization for the record before you begin

          4  your testimony, and we're going to start with Maxine

          5  Spencer, and go in the order that you were called.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 Maxine Spencer, please?

          8                 MS. FIGUEROA: No Maxine Spencer.

          9                 MS. BOLANOS: No Maxine Spencer?

         10  Sorry. Okay.

         11                 Jose Torres.

         12                 MR. TORRES: I will state again, my

         13  name is Jose Torres, and I am with the Borough of

         14  Manhattan Community College. And first I'd like to

         15  thank you all to give us this forum to express our

         16  points of views.

         17                 Firstly, I must give thanks, again,

         18  reiterating, the City Council for their support

         19  they've shown.

         20                 While I can do nothing more than

         21  reiterate the positions taken by my contemporaries,

         22  I must also make it clear that we feel that we're

         23  looked upon as a Pariah within a society.

         24                 The State must take note that before

         25  we are students we are citizens, and we understand
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          2  the economic difficulties that the City and the

          3  State are going through at this point in time. But

          4  they also must understand that if you take, and you

          5  basically dismantle the only stable form of economic

          6  growth the City has, which is the City University of

          7  New York, then you are basically doing, throwing it

          8  back into the shambles of the early eighties and

          9  late seventies. You are basically making the City

         10  nothing but a rampant cesspool of poverty.

         11                 I mean, there is poverty within the

         12  City regardless, and these people are trying to come

         13  out here and survive. Me, myself, I've had my

         14  run-ins with the law, and I've tried, you know, I've

         15  basically made a commitment to better my life and

         16  prove that one could make mistakes, and at the same

         17  time retract those mistakes and continue to improve

         18  yourself and educate yourself and make yourself a

         19  productive person within the society. Yet, when I

         20  see the current state of politics within the City,

         21  what I see is a rampant and unequivocal attack on

         22  students of my color, of my persuasion, and I want

         23  to know why? Why is this necessary for the City, the

         24  State, the government, constantly to come and attack

         25  students of poor income because they don't vote? You
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          2  know?

          3                 And I had a prepared speech, but I

          4  know we're pressed for time, but it's like I can't

          5  do nothing more than reiterate the statements of the

          6  students that came in here, but I really think that

          7  we need to lay out a plan as students. We're going

          8  to fight this. But we're not just going to sit there

          9  and march and rally and scream and let people think

         10  that we're just going to romanticize this notion of

         11  how we're going to defend ourselves now.

         12                 We're going to go to Albany and we're

         13  going to go to Albany with an army, we're going to

         14  go with students, we're going to go with lawyers,

         15  we're going to go with politicians, we're going to

         16  go with proposals and plans. We have to become more

         17  active. And, you know, I'm nervous, it's my first

         18  time in front of a Council, in front of a TV, so

         19  it's like, you know, I'd rather not harbor on

         20  everything that everybody else said, so I'm going to

         21  just leave it at that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Once again, we

         23  thank you also.

         24                 And you know what? Had you not

         25  announced that you were nervous, nobody would have
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          2  ever known, because you presented yourself very

          3  well, and we thank you for that testimony.

          4                 MS. FIGUEROA: Hi. My name is Yuvelka

          5  Figueroa, I am a student in BMCC, a member of

          6  Coalition of Cultural Awareness, I'm also active

          7  with the budget cuts.

          8                 I have a dream, well, I also have a

          9  dream. I also had a dream as a child, and as a teen,

         10  to become a lawyer. Today, as a young adult, I still

         11  want to be a lawyer, but my dreams are in jeopardy.

         12                 They eliminated the urban legal

         13  studies program that would have guaranteed me law

         14  school. BMCC lost a building. The Peter Vallone

         15  scholarships will be eliminated, and BMCC students

         16  study in danger in the trailers.

         17                 We also have trailers at City College

         18  campus. Our windows are shut down because we suffer

         19  of air quality, and Governor Pataki is saying that

         20  there's money to invest on Governor's Island, and I

         21  just ask him to please invest money on us.

         22                 I want the TAP cuts to be stopped

         23  because we can't afford it, and if TAP is a Tuition

         24  Assistance Program, the loss of this program, I mean

         25  the one-third cut will actually, I will lose my
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          2  dreams, I won't be able to become a lawyer, and I

          3  think that with the one-third cut on TAP, a lot of

          4  students won't be able to fulfill their dreams. And

          5  that's all I have to say.

          6                 Oh, well, I also -- Margarita Lopez

          7  is not here, but I wanted to tell her that -- oh,

          8  there you go. I wanted to tell you that I am a

          9  voter, and I think that I'm very proud that I did

         10  vote for you because I actually see you and you're

         11  helping us with the budget cuts and I just wanted to

         12  thank you so much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

         14  much for that testimony, and we're also very proud

         15  that you voted for Margarita, because she's been a

         16  fighter for us on many issues, and you've been our

         17  voice, on the way over here you did a fantastic job

         18  keeping us going this morning. So, we thank you very

         19  much for your testimony.

         20                 MS. BOLANOS: Next witness, Richard

         21  Nunez-Alvarez.

         22                 Richard Nunez-Lawrence.

         23                 MR. NUNEZ-LAWRENCE: Yes.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS: I'm sorry.

         25                 MR. NUNEZ-LAWRENCE: First of all, a
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          2  lot of what's been said is basically what I believe

          3  at the same time.

          4                 As Chairperson of the University

          5  Student Senate and CUNY trustee, it's my obligation

          6  as a CUNY student, and as a representative as a

          7  Board of Trustees, to make sure that the best

          8  interests of the students are represented. And one

          9  of the main things that I think that I bring to the

         10  table, not only as you have said, Chairperson, but

         11  as a student, is that of my experience.

         12                 I've been in the University now for

         13  eight years, in four different colleges; at Hostos

         14  Community College, LaGuardia Community College; City

         15  College; and currently at Brooklyn College, where

         16  right now I'm a graduate student, and through the

         17  eight years that I've been in CUNY, I've seen people

         18  taking TAP and really using it to the best of their

         19  ability, and one example that I know of is the young

         20  lady that I went to City College with, who is now

         21  currently a teacher. Now, I know that most of you

         22  are aware that approximately 80 percent of the

         23  teachers in CUNY, in the City are graduates of City

         24  University, and this is one of them.

         25                 And she's a great teacher. She just
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          2  recently bought a house, and she was on tuition

          3  assistance like her entire collegiate career. And

          4  that, she would not have been able to go to college

          5  had it not be (sic) for that.

          6                 And also, I'd like to say that within

          7  my personal family, I have -- people are college

          8  graduates, but at the same time you have people that

          9  are graduated from Stamford, from NYU, from Cornell,

         10  but it's the CUNY graduates that actually excel,

         11  including my mother, including one of my aunts who

         12  graduated from City College with a nursing degree,

         13  with her nursing degree, and I just wanted to make

         14  the Council aware that -- well, I'm sure you already

         15  know, that CUNY does produce this sort of strength

         16  and this sort of prosperity, and with something like

         17  TAP, if it's cut then that just won't exist for the

         18  most part. The outcomes of many students would be

         19  much, much less than this. They won't be able to

         20  afford to go to school, and what would they do?

         21                 I would also like to let everyone

         22  know that the last time that I was here we talked

         23  about a petition that would be circulated CUNY-wide,

         24  and then get thousands of signatures and then get

         25  sent to the State. Well, between that time and this
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          2  time we had thousands of those signatures made, and

          3  we'll be collecting them this Sunday at our plenary

          4  session where all of our USS delegates will be

          5  gathering at LaGuardia Community College, 12:00,

          6  room E500.

          7                 Now, what we will do with that is

          8  accentuate five points that the State needs to

          9  acknowledge in their budgets, which, of course,

         10  includes full-time faculty, to get more full-time

         11  faculty in CUNY, and to get more funding for SEEK

         12  and College Discovery Program, as well as basic

         13  compensation for community colleges and so on and so

         14  forth, but also to support a bill which is currently

         15  in the State Senate and Assembly for approval, which

         16  is the undocumented student bill, as one of the main

         17  important bills that students have been rallying

         18  around throughout all of CUNY, NYPIRG has been

         19  active on it, we have been active on it, and this

         20  will be on our cover letter, to basically go through

         21  and all the state people, the Assembly and the

         22  Senate will see this, but what we would want is

         23  basically for all the Council members that will be

         24  in support of this bill, especially the Higher Ed

         25  Committee, to endorse this, and for this to come
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          2  with your signatures and with your support with

          3  this, so that all the Senate and the Assembly know

          4  that it's just not the students handing these

          5  thousands of signatures, but also the support of the

          6  City Council is behind this as well.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          9  much. And Counsel reminds me that we do have a

         10  resolution on that. You certainly have our support

         11  and we will have no problems whatsoever in getting

         12  signatures for you, for your useful political

         13  agitation and activism. Thank you very much for your

         14  testimony.

         15                 MR. NUNEZ-LAWRENCE: Thank you.

         16                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, our last, but not

         17  least, speaker is Daniel Dromm.

         18                 MR. DROMM: Thank you very much,

         19  Chairman Barron and Council Member Baez, and other

         20  Council members who are here with us.

         21                 My name is Daniel Dromm, and I am a

         22  teacher. This young man provided me with a very good

         23  seguay in terms of my role. I am a teacher at PS 199

         24  in Sunnyside, Queens, I'm also the UFT Chapter

         25  leader there.  I am a product of City College, and I
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          2  receive TAP grants as well. And I know that had the

          3  TAP grants program not been there, I don't think

          4  that I would have gotten the position that I am in

          5  today.

          6                 So, I'm very grateful that they're

          7  there, and I deplore the proposed cuts that the

          8  Governor is proposing to make. I know the effect

          9  firsthand that they would have on the student

         10  population here in New York City.

         11                 I'm also appalled by the overall

         12  attacks on education, not only at the higher

         13  education level, but also at the elementary junior

         14  high schools and senior high school levels as well.

         15                 We cannot afford, and for many of

         16  these students, this is the last chance they're

         17  going to have to make something out of their lives.

         18  You know, education is not a process that can wait.

         19  It has to happen when people are ready for it to

         20  happen, especially when young people are involved.

         21  Their lives cannot be put on hold. And despite the

         22  cuts that the Governor is proposing, that's what

         23  he's asking people to do, put their lives on hold

         24  while we wait for things to get better.

         25                 I think what the Governor would be
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          2  better to do, to look at areas that he could cut

          3  aside from education. So, I'm very grateful. And you

          4  started this hearing this morning, it is now this

          5  afternoon, but I'm grateful that we have had the

          6  opportunity to share our views here today, and I'm

          7  also grateful that I hope Council Member Lopez does

          8  not ask me my age.

          9                 Thank you. Thank you very much for

         10  these hearings. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

         12  much for your testimony, and Council Member Lopez

         13  has a question.

         14                 MR. DROMM: Ut-oh.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Where is the

         16  young woman that was talking to me before? Where she

         17  went (sic)?

         18                 Can you come to the front, please?

         19                 What college you go to?

         20                 MS. FIGUEROA: BMCC.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm going to

         22  propose a challenge to you.

         23                 MS. FIGUEROA: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the

         25  challenge is that you need to graduate, and then I
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          2  leave the seat that I occupy for you. Do you accept

          3  that challenge?

          4                 MS. FIGUEROA: I accept that

          5  challenge.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You better be

          7  coming both with me in the next election that is

          8  coming, and it's this summer.

          9                 MS. FIGUEROA: Definitely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We want to thank

         12  you very much for the testimony today. This

         13  concludes our hearing, and I'd like to say this,

         14  that this was a great day for students, a great day

         15  for CUNY, and we thank you for staying throughout.

         16  And this is our fourth hearing, and just for the

         17  constructive criticism that was delivered in having

         18  students come at the end, the prior hearings we had

         19  you up first, we had you up front. We will go back

         20  to that format for our next hearing on May 1st. We

         21  want to get the Governor in here or a

         22  representative, we want to get the Mayor in here or

         23  their representatives, to tell us the great plan for

         24  Governors Island.

         25                 I have toured Governors Island
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          2  myself, and I'll have some comments at that hearing.

          3  But on May 1st we will have students come back up to

          4  the top of the testimony. But I hope you do

          5  understand the strategy today was to get people

          6  committed to you, and get people on the record in

          7  front of you, saying that they're going to fight for

          8  you to save TAP, because now we have them on TV, we

          9  have them on the record here at the Council and we

         10  have them saying this before you. But you are our

         11  pride and joy, and you can rest assured that you

         12  will be at the top of the agenda every time we utter

         13  words from our mouths.

         14                 We thank you so much for your

         15  patience, for your constructive engagement today,

         16  and if Council Member Baez has any closing remarks,

         17  after that we'll adjourn our hearing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you, Council

         19  member.

         20                 I want to certainly thank all the

         21  students, educators, everyone who testified here

         22  before us today on this very important hearing, and

         23  just to let you know that if you need us we are

         24  here, we will be your voice. It is just as important

         25  to us as elected officials as it is to you. So,
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          2  please, if you need me, if you need any of the

          3  Council members, just give us a call. Thank you

          4  Council Member Barron, for this excellent hearing

          5  today. You did a wonderful job.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: If I can just

         10  introduce you to a new staff member of mine who will

         11  be working with the Committee, Mr. Jessie Smith. And

         12  to my Chief of Staff, and the most viable person in

         13  my life right now, outside of my wife and family,

         14  Mr. Paul Washington, who does so much to keep things

         15  moving for me.

         16                 We thank you very much, and this

         17  hearing is adjourned.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 1:50 p.m.)
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